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Empire Industries creates technologically-advanced,  
specialized products, most notably, theme park attractions.  

Our businesses have a long, successful track record in  
engineering design and precision manufacturing extending 
back to 1926. Our Dynamic Structures business first entered the 
Attractions market in the late 1990’s, and it has steadily grown to 
the point that our Dynamic Attractions and Dynamic Structures 
businesses are the core of our operations.

We are one of the leaders for the rapidly growing global  
market for immersive, media-based attractions. Our rides amaze 
guests with their high-tech mix of media and motion. 

Empire’s products and services are sold domestically and in select 
international export markets. 

Empire is listed on the TSX Venture Exchange, trading under the 
stock symbol EIL.

WHO WE ARE
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Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis

Over the past several years, we have been diligently transitioning the 
company from an industrial mini-conglomerate into a leading high-tech 
attractions provider. 2016 marked the completion of this transformation, 
with the spin out of Tornado Global Hydrovacs Ltd. and the redeploy-
ment of our steel fabrication assets into our Attractions business and 
away from third party sales. Best of all, the change occurred while 
increasing value to shareholders.

We are now laser focused on the rapidly growing global theme park 
market. In 2016, we delivered 10 iconic rides on four continents. 
Through our Attractions Development Center in Orlando, we expanded 
our proprietary line of attractions. Our Attractions Development Center 
is a key piece of our future strategy and serves as the base for our new 
product development and our Unlimited AttractionsTM service offering. 
Unlimited AttractionsTM offers an exciting range of theming products 
and show services to theme parks and tourist venues, turning rides  
into attractions.

Guy Nelson 
Executive Chairman and CEO

Ian Macdonald 
Non-executive Chairman of the Board

 
Guy Nelson

2016 was a successful, transformative year that 

will greatly benefit Empire’s future.

Report to 
SHAREHOLDERS
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Report to Shareholders

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
• Net Income nearly tripled, increasing $2.6 million to $4.0 million, up from $1.4 million  

in 2015. The gain on the sale of Tornado Hydrovacs, use of our tax losses and gains on 
foreign exchange were the main contributors to this improvement.

• Per Share Net Income was $0.06 in 2016, up from $0.02 in 2015. 

• Revenues decreased to $118.0 million, down 10.1% from $131.2 million in 2015. The 
decrease was driven by reduced revenues in the Steel Fabrication division. In early  
2017, we have ceased pursuing third party steel fabrication opportunities in our 
Edmonton location. Empire has re-deployed those assets to the company’s Attractions 
division, integrating and right-sizing this capacity with our steel fabrication capacity in 
Port Coquitlam.

• Contract backlog as of Dec 31, 2016 was $109 million, down from $130 million a year 
earlier. Despite the decline, our pipeline of proposals has never been larger and more 
robust. Management has confidence in growing the backlog in the future.

• Total Shareholders’ Equity reduced by $3.5 million. This was the net amount of 
the dividend of Tornado Hydrovac (Manufactured Products division) to all Empire 
shareholders.

• Working capital was strengthened during the year by the addition of USD $10 million  
of subordinate financing from Export Development Canada.

BUSINESS UNITS UPDATE

ATTRACTIONS

In May 2016, Dynamic Attractions opened their 80,000 square foot ‘Attractions 
Development Center’ in Orlando, Florida. Not only does the location dramatically 
strengthen our relationship with key clients, but the facility’s ‘experience studio’ provides  
us with advantageous opportunities to showcase to, and collaborate with, the major  
theme parks. 

It was a record-breaking year in terms of grand openings of our projects: 10 Dynamic 
Attractions rides opened. These are extremely complex, multi-year projects; the locations 
for these attractions span 4 continents. This successful milestone demonstrates our ability  
to simultaneously execute impressive project management on multiple fronts.

This year we introduced a new product: The Dynamic Motion Theater. It was proclaimed 
the ‘2016 Best New Attraction’ by the International Attractions and Amusement Parks 
Association (IAAPA).

TELESCOPES

Empire’s Dynamic Structures business was officially awarded the final design contract for the 
Thirty Meter Telescope (TMT) enclosure in August 2016. Our engineers in Port Coquitlam  
are continuing their work on this $10 million, 20-month project throughout 2017.

Our new product,  
The Dynamic Motion  
Theater, was  
proclaimed the ‘2016 
Best New Attraction’ 
by the IAAPA.
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TMT is a massive ‘next generation’ telescope; it is a partnership with the United States, Japan, 
China, India and Canada. Its planned location atop Mauna Kea, Hawaii is being contested.  
The Canary Islands has been selected as an alternate site if needed. 

Subsequent phases of the Canadian enclosure project, including fabrication, shipping the 
enclosure to the project site, supervision of the enclosure’s installation, and commissioning  
the structure, have not yet been awarded. Because we are designing the enclosure, and 
have built more than half of the world’s large telescopes, we believe that we are uniquely 
positioned to do these phases for TMT as well.

STEEL FABRICATION 

Our facility in Edmonton has been impacted by low oil prices. The major capital 
expansion projects in that province have halted, causing the companies that provide steel 
fabrication services to undercut each other. We have chosen to remove ourselves from this 
commoditized market by no longer seeking third party steel fabrication projects. 

In early 2017, we made the decision to re-deploy our Edmonton steel fabrication assets into 
our Attractions division. By no longer seeking third party steel fabrication contracts, we 
are exiting a market that is still struggling to recover from low oil prices and the resulting 
contraction of major capital expansion projects. In doing so, we are rightsizing our steel 
fabrication capacity to match our growing Attractions market requirements.

HYDROVAC TRUCKS

In June 2016, Empire Industries spun out its Tornado Hydrovac truck business unit (the 
Manufactured Products segment) that designed, built and sold industrial excavation trucks.

That non-core component of Empire officially became its own TSX Venture Exchange publicly 
listed company, Tornado Global Hydrovacs Ltd., in July 2016. While Empire’s shareholders 
at the time of the spin out became the majority shareholders of the new Tornado company, 
Empire itself is no longer a shareholder. 

The primary reason for the spin out was to enable Empire to focus, almost entirely, on the 
Attractions industry.

Empire’s attention  
is firmly on the  
rapidly growing  
attractions-oriented 
entertainment  
market.
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Report to Shareholders

OUTLOOK
Empire has successfully positioned itself to become a globally competitive leader in 
the higher margin, media-based attractions market niche. We expect to benefit from 
our strategic focus on a market niche that is projected to grow rapidly for many years to 
come. We have a record high pipeline of proposals outstanding, and expect several to be 
converted into major contracts in the near future.

Profit performance is expected to improve as we move from first generation products into 
second generation products, taking advantage of the learning curve. The proportion of first 
generation products is expected to decrease in 2017 and afterwards and the proportion of 
‘build to print’ work will correspondingly increase.

Our Unlimited AttractionsTM division in Orlando is gathering momentum by converting  
our proprietary ride systems into attractions, by adding various show elements that we 
did not provide before. Additionally, our Orlando-based ride system design and assembly 
staff is increasing significantly, and our customer prototyping facility is offering prospective 
customers a much broader range of the services than we did before.

The weaker Canadian dollar will continue to positively impact profit margins because 
attractions are sold predominantly in US dollars. There are costs that are incurred in US 
dollars as well, but there continues to be a net advantage of manufacturing in Canada and 
exporting in US dollars.

We will continue to shelter our profits from income tax through the utilization of loss carry 
forwards and investment tax credits. On a simplified basis, our $7.1 million of deferred 
tax assets at December 31, 2016 will continue to shield us from cash tax expense on 
approximately $26.3 million of future taxable income at the current statutory tax rates.

SUMMARY

Empire’s evolution in 2016 is already paying off. The spin out of our Manufactured Products 
division into a stand-alone publicly traded company has sharply increased Empire’s focus 
on the Attractions division. The fact that we were able to accomplish this with a gain of 
$3.3 million net of tax meant the transaction had immediate financial value to Empire’s 
shareholders, as well as immediate strategic value. 

The transformation continues with the re-deployment of our Edmonton steel fabrication 
assets into the Attractions segment and the rightsizing our steel fabrication capacity. 

More than ever, Empire’s attention is firmly on the rapidly growing attractions-oriented 
entertainment market. We are focused on the growth in this marketplace and on leveraging 
our unique, globally competitive advantages and unique selling proposition. We see strong 
growth in demand for 2017 and beyond. 

Empire’s evolution  
in 2016 is already 
paying off.
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  (in 000’s) 2016 

  Sales $101,991

  Adjusted EBITDA $10,594

  Adjusted EBIT $7,446

 

WHAT WE DO

We invent, design, fabricate, build and install. 

From iconic entertainment attractions to  

specialized products, our focus on everything 

we do is innovation, reliability, and safety.
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What We Do

ATTRACTIONS

  (in 000’s) 2016 

  Sales $101,991

  Adjusted EBITDA $10,594

  Adjusted EBIT $7,446

 

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Dynamic Attractions is a turnkey supplier of premium entertainment  
attractions, from concept through to installation. This includes the  
attractions’ special effects, storytelling media, sound, lighting, and the 
company’s proprietary line of products. Likewise, the company works with 
major theme parks to design, manufacture and install complex, one-of-a-
kind ride systems. The company provides after-sales parts and service for  
its own attractions as well as other amusement park attractions.

Dynamic Structures has the enviable distinction of having designed and 
built most of the world’s largest telescopes. Another Empire business,  
Dynamic Optics, is pioneering research on mirrors that could disrupt the 
field of astrophysics by making these scientific instruments dramatically 
more accessible.
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What We Do

Seating area rotates from horizontal 
to vertical positions, putting each 
rider in front of a panoramic screen 
that fills their view. Synchronized 
motion and special effects add to  
the storytelling experience. 

Round seating area that lifts, tilts and 
spins to enhance the show, which is 
a combination of movie, live action 
and special effects. 

These train-car style attractions 
are surrounded on all sides by 
panoramic screens and audio-visual 
effects.

This new genre varies from the 
traditional ‘train’ of vehicles, as  
the drive system is connected to 
each vehicle instead of the track.

 

Combining media-based, special  
effects and audio and visual 
experiences with advanced 
proprietary coaster motion 
techniques, such as Tilt & Drop 
switches, Side Slides, Elevator 
Drops, Tumble Tables, etc.

 

PROPRIETARY PRODUCTS

FLYING THEATRE MOTION THEATRE IMMERSIVE TRANSPORTER

ONBOARD DRIVE RACING 

VEHICLE

SFX INDOOR COASTER
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What We Do

PARTS AND SERVICES

This division supplies parts for our own attractions as well as for rides manufactured by others. We also provide a 
broad array of maintenance services and consulting services.

UNLIMITED ATTRACTIONS™

This service turns a proposed ‘ride’ into an ‘attraction.’ Unlimited Attractions™ coordinates and integrates all  
of the show elements: story concept, lighting, scenery, media, special effects, and, of course, the ride system.  
This service uses the skills Dynamic has cultivated while partnering with the world’s leading theme parks.

UNIQUE RIDE SYSTEMS

This division creates specialized ride systems for major theme parks, often installing the ride system in the client’s 
multiple parks. It works in partnership with famous entertainment destinations to conceptualize, engineer, 
and build cutting-edge rides that have never been built before. Our projects are some of the most famous and 
beloved attractions of all time.

Either track-mounted or stationary 
robot arms combined with media-
based audio visual equipment and 
interactive options. 

 

ROBOTIC ARM DARK RIDE TRACKLESS RIDE VEHICLE

These automatically guided vehicles 
are nimble and turn on a dime. Each 
does not need to all follow the same 
path, allowing riders a different 
experience each time. Interactive 
options are available.  

PROPRIETARY PRODUCTS
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STEEL FABRICATION

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

In early 2017, Empire redeployed its Alberta steel fabrication assets into the Attractions 
segment, and has subsequently been rightsizing its steel fabrication capacity to match our 
internal requirements. Sales to third party steel fabrication customers has been curtailed in 
all material respects.

  (in 000’s) 2016 

  Sales $15,778

  Adjusted EBITDA $(2,115)

  Adjusted EBIT $(2,605)
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Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis

Management’s 
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of  
financial condition and results of operations of Empire Industries Ltd.  
(“EIL” or the “Group”) is supplemental to, and should be read in  
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. 

The audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes 
of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2016 have been prepared 
in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
and require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
amounts reported and disclosed in such financial statements and related 
notes. Unless otherwise indicated, a reference to a year relates to the 
Group’s fiscal year ended December 31. All amounts are reported in  
Canadian dollars unless specifically stated to the contrary. Financial  
information disclosed in this MD&A is presented in thousands (000’s) with 
the exception of percentages and per share data.

The Board of Directors, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, 
approved the contents of this MD&A on April 25, 2017. Disclosure  
contained in this document is current to this date, unless otherwise stated.

Additional information on EIL is available through the System for Electronic 
Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com.

The Board of  
Directors, on the  
recommendation of  
the Audit Committee, 
approved the  
contents of this 
MD&A on  
April 25, 2017.

http://www.sedar.com
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Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis

 

 

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION
The Group’s operations take place primarily through the following wholly owned operating segments:

  Operating Segment Description

Media-Based Attractions  Design and manufacture complex ride systems, telescopes and custom machinery   
 and equipment. Turn key supplier of premium entertainment attractions and   
 provider of parts and service of amusement park attractions. Leased production   
 facilities in Port Coquitlam, BC. Leased sales offices in Orlando FL, Arlington TX and  
 Toronto ON.

Steel Fabrication Services  Structural steel fabrication and installation. Fabrication of tanks, pressure vessels   
 and other specialty carbon and stainless steel products. One owned production   
 facility west of Edmonton, AB and a leased sales office in Edmonton AB  
 as well as a leased production facility in Winnipeg, MB.

Corporate  Head office located in Winnipeg. Executive management, managerial and financial  
 oversight, business development and compliance requirements for the overall   
 organization.

In addition to these wholly owned operating segments, the Group holds significant equity interests in two major 
business enterprises both aligned with the Group’s Steel Fabrication Services segment:

  Enterprise  Business

 Steel fabrication and installation, machining, multi-trade industrial construction   
 and maintenance services, primarily serving the oil sands market. Facilities are in   
 Fort McMurray, AB. This is a strategic alliance between the ACDEN (formerly the   
 Athabasca Chipewyan First Nation Business Group) and Empire Industries Ltd. 

 Fabrication and installation of complex structural steel projects in China through   
 a Company owned 55% by Guangdong Qiguang Steel Structures Co. Ltd. and   
 45% by Empire Industries Ltd. The Company operates out of a leased facility in the   
 Guangdong Province.  

EIL maintains its head office in Winnipeg, Manitoba. The Group’s common shares are listed on the TSX Venture 
Exchange under the trading symbol EIL. 
 

 

Athabasca Chipewyan  
Empire (ACE) Industrial  
Services Ltd. (49%) 

Dongguan Qiguang 
Dynamic Steel Structures,  
Ltd. (45%)
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Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS

 Periods ended Dec 31 Twelve months ended Quarter ended
  2016 2015 Variance  2016 2015 Variance

Operating Results:
 Revenues  117,987 131,225 (13,238)  27,531 33,664 (6,133)
 Adjusted gross margin  22,462 22,962 (500)  6,837 7,905 (1,068)
 Adjusted gross margin %  19.04% 17.50% 1.54%  24.84% 23.49% 1.4%
 Adjusted EBITDA  5,594 8,139 (2,545)  1,179 3,000 (1,821)
 Adjusted EBITDA %  4.75% 6.21% (1.46%)  4.29% 8.92% (4.6%)
 Adjusted EBIT  1,946 6,339 (4,393)  (622) 2,366 (2,988)
 Adjusted EBIT %  1.65% 4.83% (3.18%)  (2.26%) 7.03% (9.3%)
 Net income from continuing operations (net of tax)  1,414 1,849 (435)  (2,660) 567 (3,227)
 Net income from discontinued operations (net of tax) 2,564 (479) 3,043  102 (192) 294
Net income from continuing operations  3,978 1,370 2,608  (2,558) 375 (2,933)

Per share data:
 Profit (loss) per share (Basic & Diluted)  
 from continuing operations  0.02 0.03 (0.01)  (0.04) 0.01 (0.05)
 Profit (loss) per share (Basic & Diluted) 
 from discontinued operations  0.04 (0.01) 0.05  0.00 0.00 0.00
 Profit (loss) per share (Basic and Diluted) —  
 all operations  0.06 0.02 0.04  (0.04) 0.01 (0.05)
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Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK
In addition to other sections of the Group’s report, this section contains forward-looking 
information and actual outcomes may differ materially from those expressed or implied 
therein. For more information, see the section titled “Forward- Looking Information” in  
this MD&A. 

Subsequent to December 31, 2016, with the approval of the Board of Directors, the Group 
commenced curtailment of the operations of the Steel Fabrication segment in all material 
respects, and redeployed those assets into the Media-Based Attractions segment to support 
the existing capacity and planned growth of this operating segment. Management believes 
that continuing to operate the industrial structural steel supply business on a stand-alone 
basis is not the best use of the Group’s capital. The domestic steel fabrication market outlook 
has taken a demonstrable turn for the worse that was further aggravated by long term 
structural disadvantages, negatively impacting the industrial, commercial and institutional 
market in Western Canada. This combined with excess steel fabrication capacity does not 
bode well for this market going forward. In the immediate future, the Group will right-size 
and consolidate its industrial steel fabrication activities in Western Canada and China to 
match its Media-Based Attractions requirements for fabricated steel. The re-deployment of 
the Steel Fabrication segment assets into the Media-Based Attractions segment is expected 
to improve the Group’s financial performance in the future. It will also allow management to 
focus even more on the Media-Based Attractions business.

The spin-out of our 
Manufactured  
Products segment 
into a stand-alone 
publicly traded 
company in mid 
2016 has sharply 
increased Empire’s 
focus on its Media 
-Based Attractions 
segment.
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Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis

The spin-out of our Manufactured Products segment (Tornado Global Hydrovacs) into a 
stand-alone publicly traded company in mid 2016 plus the steel fabrication redeployment in 
early 2017 has sharply increased Empire’s focus on its Media-Based Attractions segment.

The Group has successfully positioned itself to become a globally competitive leader in the 
higher margin, rapidly growing, media-based attractions market niche. The Group expects 
to benefit from its strategic focus on a market niche that is projected to grow rapidly for 
many years to come. Contract backlog as of December 31, 2016 was $109 million. This 
is down from $125 million as of September 30, 2016, but that is well within the Group’s 
typical backlog fluctuation, driven by the fact that contracts are typically large and are not 
awarded on a regularly scheduled basis. The Group has a record high pipeline of proposals 
outstanding, and expects several to be converted into major contracts in the near future. 

The annual global attractions trade show in Orlando in mid-November continued to provide 
Dynamic Attractions with momentum, winning two prestigious awards, further confirming 
that it is strategically well positioned in this vibrant industry.

The Group will  
continue to shelter its 
profits from income 
tax through the  
utilization of loss  
carry forwards and 
investment tax  
credits.
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Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis

Profit performance is expected to improve as the Group moves from first generation 
products into second generation products, taking advantage of the learning curve. There 
was a large mix of proprietary, first generation products in our work in process during 2016 
negatively impacting margins over the balance of our other work. This high mix of first 
generation products is expected to decrease in 2017 and afterwards as they get delivered 
and the mix of “build to print” work increases.

There are several strategic moves the Group has made in the United States that are already 
paying dividends and this trend is expected to increase going forward. Our Media-Based 
Attractions segment’s Unlimited AttractionsTM division in Orlando is gathering momentum 
by converting our proprietary ride systems into attractions by adding various show elements 
that we did not provide before. Additionally, our Orlando-based ride system design and 
assembly staff is increasing significantly where there is a larger pool of experienced, ride 
system people to draw from, and our 57,000 square foot customer prototyping facility is 
offering prospective customers a much broader range of the services than we did before.

The weaker Canadian dollar will continue to positively impact profit margins because the 
Media-Based Attractions are sold predominantly in US dollars. There are costs that are 
incurred in US dollars as well, but there continues to be a net advantage of manufacturing in 
Canada and exporting in US dollars.

Dynamic Structures’ award of a $10 million contract to complete the conceptual design and 
produce the detailed design for the Thirty Meter Telescope (TMT) enclosure is well underway 
and will continue to contribute to our bottom line throughout 2017. A decision selecting 
the TMT site will take place in 2017 and the supply and installation contract is expected to 
be awarded shortly thereafter. We remain confident that the TMT enclosure will be supplied 
and installed by Dynamic Structures, because it is the only company that has this specialized 
expertise, having designed and built more than half the world’s large telescope enclosures.

The Group will continue to shelter its profits from income tax through the utilization of loss 
carry forwards and investment tax credits. On a simplified basis, the Group’s $7.1 million of 
deferred tax assets at December 31, 2016 will continue to shield the Group from cash tax expense 
on approximately $26.3 million of future taxable income at the current statutory tax rates.

The weaker  
Canadian dollar  
will continue to  
positively impact 
profit margins  
because the Media- 
Based Attractions 
are sold predomi-
nantly in US dollars. 



Em
p

ire
 In

d
us

tr
ie

s 
Lt

d
.  

|   
A

nn
ua

l R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16

20 

Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis

2016 RESULTS REVIEW
  REVENUES

 Revenues from continuing operations in 2016 declined by $13.2 million to $118 million. The 
decline was driven by a $12.4 million reduction in revenues in the Group’s Steel Fabrication 
Services segment. The segment continued to endure the challenges of obtaining sufficient 
volumes and necessary pricing in the Western Canadian economy during 2016. This has 
culminated with management’s decision in early 2017 to cease actively pursuing third party 
Steel Fabrication revenue opportunities from its Edmonton location and rather re-deploy 
those assets to the Group’s Media-Based Attractions segment to support its ongoing and 
increasing fabrication needs.

 Revenues from continuing operations in 4Q16 declined by $6.1 million to $27.5 million 
compared to the same quarter in 2015. Unlike the year-over-year variance, this decline was 
due to the Group’s Media-Based Attractions segment, which saw decreased revenues of 
$5.6 million compared to the same quarter in 2015. Because the segment works on large 
longer-term projects, revenues can fluctuate depending on the status of certain contracts 
and the milestones being worked on in a given period. 

 ADJUSTED GROSS MARGINS

 Adjusted gross margins from continuing operations improved by 1.54% compared to 
2015 on an annual basis. This overall increase was comprised of a 1.7% increase in the 
Group’s Media-Based Attractions segment, offset by a 4.9% reduction in the Group’s Steel 
Fabrication Services segment. Driving the increase in the Media-Based Attraction segment’s 
adjusted gross margin was an increase in investment tax credits recognized of $0.9 million 
compared to the previous year. The decline in the Steel Fabrication Services segment’s 
adjusted gross margin was driven by lower volumes and insufficient returns on the  
volume executed.

 The adjusted gross margins from continuing operations improved by 1.4% compared to the 
same quarter in 2015. Consistent with the variance on an annual basis, the adjusted gross 
margin in 4Q16 was impacted by the recognition of investment tax credits by the Media-
Based Attractions segment and 4Q16 was the most difficult of the four quarters in 2016 for the 
Steel Fabrication Services segment as outlined in the segment detail provided in this MD&A.

 SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

 Selling, general and administrative costs increased by $2.0 million in 2016 compared to 
2015. Selling, general and administrative costs increased by $2.6 million in the Media-
Based Attractions segment offset by reductions of $0.5 million and $0.1 million in the Steel 
Fabrication Services and Corporate segments respectively. 

The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Media-Based Attractions 
segment is driven by an increase in overall expenses but also an increase in the proportion 
of such expenses incurred in the segment’s Orlando facility compared to its Port Coquitlam 
facility. This results in an increase due to the translation impact of the stronger US dollar. 
Approximately $2.1 million of expenses were reduced in Canada and replaced in the

Adjusted gross  
margins from  
continuing operations 
improved by 1.54% 
compared to 2015  
on an annual basis.
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US as compared to 2015. With an average exchange rate for 2016 of 1.3248, this increased 
the segment’s reported selling, general and administrative expenses by $0.7 million. In 
addition, the US operations incurred an additional $1.3 million in selling, general and 
administrative expenses during the year due to having full year of operations and continuing 
to grow. This additional $1.3 million in total expenditures in the US carries an additional  
$0.4 million in reported expenditures for the segment based on the average exchange rate 
for the year of 1.3248. The segment’s Canadian operations increased its selling, general and 
administrative expenses by approximately $0.2 million on a net basis. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses in 4Q16 increased by $0.8 million compared 
to the same period in 2015. The Media-Based Attractions segment increased by $1.1 million 
offset by reductions of by a reduction in selling, general and administrative expenses in the 
Corporate segment of $0.3 million.

ADJUSTED EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2016 of $5.6 million was $2.5 million 
less than 2015. This was due to an increase in the Adjusted EBITDA loss in the Steel 
Fabrication Services segment of $1.7 million compared to 2015 and a reduction in  
Adjusted EBITDA in the Media-Based Attractions segment of $1.0 million and a reduction  
of $0.2 million in the adjusted EBITDA loss of the Corporate segment. 

Adjusted EBITDA for 4Q16 of $1.2 million was $1.8 million less than the same quarter in 
2015. This reduction in Adjusted EBITDA for the quarter is driven entirely by the adjusted 
EBITDA loss of $1.9 million by the Steel Fabrication Services segment.
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CASHFLOW GENERATED BY OPERATIONS

The Group’s Cashflow Generated by Operations decreased by $2.9 million to $4.2 million 
in 2016 when compared to the previous year. Declines in Adjusted EBITDA and increased 
finance costs outlined above are the driver behind the decrease from 2015. In 4Q15, the 
Group’s Cashflow Generated by Operations decreased by $2.2 million to $0.7 million when 
compared to the same three-month period in 2015. 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment increased by $1.05 million in 2016 
compared to 2015. This increase was due to a full year of depreciation of the $4.2 million of 
additions recorded in 2015 and the commencement of depreciation of the $5.3 million of 
additions recorded by the Group in 2016.

Amortization of intangible assets increased by $0.8 million in 2016 compared to 2015. 
Consistent with property, plant and equipment, the amortization of intangible assets has 
increased due to full year amortization expense of $3.2 million in additions from 2015 and 
the commencement of amortization of $6.9 million of additions in 2016.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $1.2 million in 4Q16 compared to the 
same three-month period in 2015 as a result of the same factors outlined on an annual basis. 
The impact in 4Q16 was more pronounced as the Group refines its estimates on an annual 
basis coinciding with the fourth quarter.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs increased by $0.3 million in 2016 over 2015 which is driven directly by the 
increase in long-term debt outstanding by the Group at December 31, 2016 as compared 
to the December 31, 2015. The Group raised $18.5 million in long-term debt in 2016 as 
opposed to $0.3 million in the previous year. 

Finance costs in 4Q16 increased $0.4 million over 4Q15 because of the increased debt 
levels discussed above. $15.3 million of the long-term debt raised by the Group was raised 
at the beginning of 4Q16 which is why the annual variance in finance costs is driven by the 
4Q16 variance. 

SHARE OF PROFIT (LOSS) FROM ASSOCIATE

The Group recorded a loss from its Associate investment in ACE Industrial Services Ltd. in 
Fort McMurray, Alberta of $0.5 million in 2016 compared to a minimal profit recorded in 
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2015. This investment has been affected by the overall downturn in the Western Canadian 
economy over the past 24 months but also incurred incremental challenges associated with 
the wild fires that swept through the region in the spring of 2016. 

In 4Q16 the group recorded a loss from ACE Industrial Services Ltd. of $0.15 million 
compared to a profit of $0.15 million recorded during the same period in 2015, driven by 
the same reasons as discussed above. 

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Group recorded stock based compensation expense in 2016 of $0.6 million which is an 
increase $0.4 million over the same period in 2015. The increase in stock based compensation 
is correlated to 2,008,750 options issued in 2016 versus 812,500 issued in 2015. 

Stock-based compensation expense in 4Q16 was minimal and consistent with the 4Q15 with 
moderate charges relating to ongoing amortization of unvested options in the quarter.

FAIR VALUE CHANGES IN DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group recorded a gain of $4.4 million in 2016 on changes to the fair value of its out-
standing foreign currency forward contracts. In 2015 the Group recorded a loss $2.1 million. 
At December 31, 2015 the Group had a fair value liability recorded relating to its foreign 
currency forward contracts of $3.8 million compared to an asset of $0.6 million recorded as 
at December 31, 2016. The reason for large change in fair value is because the outstanding 
forward contracts of $34.1 million at December 31, 2016 had a weighted average forward 
rate of 1.3591 versus the year-end exchange rate of 1.3427. At December 31, 2015, the 
Group had $38.1 million of outstanding forward contracts outstanding with a weighted 
average forward rate of $1.2834 versus a year-end exchange rate of 1.3840. The fair value 
changes are driven primarily by the rate differential between the forward rates and the actual 
rates on the valuation dates which for these financial statements and MD&A is December 31, 
2016 and 2015.

In 4Q16, the Group recorded a fair value loss on derivative financial instruments of $0.6 million 
compared to loss of $0.8 million recorded in same period in 2015. The loss in 4Q16 was driven 
by rate differentials as the at the beginning of the quarter as the Group has $33.2 million 
outstanding foreign currency forward contracts outstanding with valued against an exchange 
rate of 1.3117 the increase in the actual rate exchange rate from the beginning to the end of 
the quarter resulted in the reduction in the fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts.

IMPAIRMENT, LOSS ON DISPOSAL AND OTHER ITEMS

The Group recorded an impairment charge of $1.0 million in 2016 relating to a previously 
developed and patented technology design. Management concluded that there was 
significant uncertainty relating to its future use. In 2015, the Group incurred a charge of 
$0.1 million to a note receivable for which collection was deemed unlikely and other non-
operating charges of $0.15 million.

The Group recorded the impairment charge discussed above in 4Q16 and in 4Q15 recorded 
the $0.1 million charge for the uncollectible note receivable and $0.1 million of non-
operating expenses.

The Group recorded  
a gain of $4.4 million 
in 2016 on changes 
to the fair value of its 
outstanding foreign 
currency forward 
contracts.
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NET INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Group completed the spin out of the assets and liabilities and sale of its Hydrovac Truck 
manufacturing business in 2016. This division had previously been reported in the operating 
results of the Group, identified as the “Manufactured Products” segment. During 2016, 
Group reported the operating results and the results of the disposition of this division as a 
discontinued operation. In 2016, up to June 28 when the spin out and sale was completed, 
the Group’s discontinued operations had $9.1 million of revenues and an operating loss 
of $0.7 million before tax. In the full year of 2015, this operation realized revenues of 
$20.2 million and an operation loss of $0.5 million. The Group realized a gain on the spin 
out transaction in the amount $3.3 million net of tax which is yielding the income from 
discontinued operations in 2016 of $2.6 million. There was minimal activity in discontinued 
operations in 4Q16. 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group’s cash tax expense decreased by $0.1 million in 2016 compared the previous 
year. Deferred tax expense increased by $0.6 million in 2016 as compared 2015. Deferred 
tax expense arises from the utilization of recorded deferred tax assets consisting of loss carry 
forwards, temporary differences and investment tax credits. 

In 4Q16, the Group’s cash tax expense decreased by $0.2 million compared to the same 
period in 2015 as the Group had no material cash tax expense in 4Q16. In 4Q16, the Group 
reclassified $0.2 million of deferred tax expense to its discontinued operations which 
yielded a deferred tax recovery in the quarter. Conversely the Group’s entire deferred tax 
expense charge of $0.7 million was recorded in 4Q15.

As at December 31, 2016 the Group has recorded deferred tax assets of $7.1 million which 
is an increase of $1.3 million compared to December 31, 2015. The net increase in deferred 



Em
p

ire
 In

d
us

tr
ie

s 
Lt

d
.  

|   
A

nn
ua

l R
ep

o
rt

 2
0

16

25 

Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis

tax assets was the recognition of $2.8 million in investment tax credits in 2016 offset by 
the utilization of loss carry forwards to offset cash tax expense at December 31, 2016. On 
a simplified basis, the Group’s $7.1 million of deferred tax assets at December 31, 2016 
will continue to shield the Group from cash tax expense on $26.3 million of future taxable 
income at the current statutory tax rates. 

NET INCOME

The Group’s net income increased by $2.6 million in 2016 to $4.0 million compared to  
net income of $1.4 million in 2015. In 4Q16, the Group’s net income decreased by  
$2.9 million to a loss of $2.5 million in the quarter compared to net income of $0.4 million 
in same period in 2015. These changes were driven largely by the factors discussed above 
throughout the 2016 Results Review section.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
• On February 1, 2016, the Group announced its proposal to spin out and sell its 

Hydrovac business (the Manufactured Products segment) into a separate publicly traded 
company on the TSX Venture Exchange. The proposal called for Empire shareholders 
to own 54.5%, with a Chinese partner owning the remaining 45.5%. When all the 
transactions associated with the proposal are completed, the spin out company will have 
approximately $10 million of cash and approximately $6 million of operating assets. 
Empire also announced that the new spinout company closed a private placement of 
subscription receipts for gross proceeds of approximately $5 million. On March 1, 2016, 
the Group announced that the Hydrovac spin out company, which is now named Tornado 
Global Hydrovacs Inc., closed a second private placement of approximately $2.5 million 
of subscription receipts as part of the previously announced spin out transaction.

On a simplified  
basis, the Group’s 
$7.1 million of  
deferred tax assets 
at December 31, 
2016 will continue 
to shield the Group 
from cash tax  
expense on $26.3 
million of future  
taxable income at 
the current statutory 
tax rates. 
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• On February 18, 2016, the Group announced that it has engaged Oak Hill Advisors Inc. 
to provide investor relations services. The objective of the services is to assist the Group 
in developing and executing a comprehensive corporate communications strategy, 
informing market participants regarding Empire’s business results, growth strategy, 
strategic transactions and new contracts as they arise.

• On May 13, 2016, the Group renewed its existing credit facilities with CIBC agreeing 
to a three-year commitment. Commensurate with the renewal the Group obtained an 
additional $3.1 million of term debt financing. 

• On May 18, 2016, the Group announced that, further to its news release of February 1, 
2016, Empire has entered into an arrangement agreement (the “Arrangement Agreement”) 
with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Tornado Global Hydrovacs Ltd. (“Tornado”) and 
Tornado Global Hydrovacs Inc. contemplating the spin-out (the “Arrangement”) to 
Tornado of Empire’s Hydrovac business including all of the tangible and intangible 
assets, employees and operations of Tornado Trucks, a division of Empire (the “Hydrovac 
Business”) On May 20, 2016 the information circular was approved for distribution.

• On June, 27, 2016, the Group announced the completion of the above-mentioned 
arrangement agreement and the completion of a 4 for 1 stock consolidation reducing the 
number of common shares outstanding to 64,834,119.

• On August 9, 2016, the Group announced that its Dynamic Structures division has 
been awarded a contract from Canadian Commercial Corporation for the final design 
and production readiness phases of the Thirty Meter Telescope enclosure. The contract 
is valued at approximately $10 million, and is expected to be completed by Q1 2018. 
Subsequent phases of the Canadian enclosure project, including fabrication, shipping 
the enclosure to the project site, supervision of the enclosure’s installation, and 
commissioning of the structure, have not yet been awarded.

• On September 20, 2016, the Group announced that its Dynamic Attractions division has 
been awarded a contract for more than $21 million USD to provide a ride system for a 
major theme park in Asia. The contract is to be executed over the next 36 months.

• On October 12, 2016, the Group closed a loan facility with Export Development Canada 
in the amount of $10 million USD. The loan bears interests at the US prime rate plus 2.5% 
per annum. The principal is to be repaid over 3 years with no payments in the first six 
month followed by 10 quarterly payments of $1.0 million USD. The proceeds of the facility 
will be used to improve the working capital position of the Group.

SUBSEQUENT SIGNIFICANT EVENTS 
• On January 22, 2017, the Group incorporated a wholly-owned foreign enterprise 

in the People’s Republic of China named Zhejiang Dynamic Structures Engineering 
Technology Limited. The purpose of this entity will be to expand and improve the Group’s 
manufacturing capacity in China. 

On October 12, 2016, 
the Group closed 
a loan facility with 
Export Development 
Canada in the 
amount of  
$10 million USD.
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SELECTED ANNUAL AND QUARTERLY  
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 Annual Financial Information
 For the years ended    2016  2015  2014

Sales    117,987  131,225  141,156
Profit from continuing operations    1,414  1,849  6,064
Profit (loss) from discontinued operations    2,564  (479)  –
Profit from all income operations    3,978  1,370  6,064
Profit (loss) per share:
 Basic    0.06  0.02  0.10
 Diluted    0.06  0.02  0.09
Total Assets    78,718  80,140  68,296
Total long-term financial liabilities    13,089  2,937  4,001 
Cash dividends declared per common share    –  –  –

 Quarterly Financial Information        
 For the years ended 2016 2016 2016 2016 2015 2015 2015 2015 
 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Sales 27,531 32,330 30,348 27,778 33,665 38,365 30,611 28,584
Adjusted EBITDA 1,179 2,014 873 1,528 3,000 2,134 1,355 1,650
Profit (loss) from continuing operations (2,660) (269) 218 4,125 567 1,162 813 (693)
Profit (loss) from discontinued operations 102 (43) 2,868 (363) (192) (172) 77 (192)
Profit (loss) per share:        
 Basic & Diluted — continuing ops (0.04) (0.00) 0.00 0.06 0.01 0.02 0.01 (0.01)
 Basic & Diluted — discontinued ops 0.00 (0.00) 0.04 (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 0.00 (0.01)
 Basic & Diluted — all operations (0.04) 0.00 0.04 0.06 0.00 0.02 0.01 (0.02)

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
WORKING CAPITAL AND LIQUIDITY 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Group’s continuing operations generated  
$2.4 million of cash, compared with $5.1 million of cash in 2015 excluding the impact of 
changes in non-cash working capital amounts. The Group expects that its operations will 
generate sufficient cash on a go-forward basis to meet the Group’s obligations.

The Group has a $15.0 million revolving credit facility with CIBC, of which $6.8 million was 
drawn as of December 31, 2016. The Group’s marginable assets at December 31, 2016 were 
$15.9 million, which is $9.1 million more than the Group’s total draw on the operating line.

The Group made $1.9 million of cash principal repayments during the year which includes 
$0.7 million repaid on convertible debentures that matured in the year. Total long-term debt 
of $20.7 million as at December 31, 2016 consisted of $6.1 million of term debt with CIBC, 
$13.4 million of term debt with EDC, $0.3 million under finance leases, and $0.9 million of  
a limited recourse loan. 
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The Group was in violation of one of its financial covenants at December 31, 2016 for which 
the waiver for the breach was not obtained until after December 31, 2016. As a result of the 
timing of the receipt of the waiver, long-term debt amounts due beyond 2017 but subject to 
the financial covenant were required by IRFS accounting standards to be classified as current 
for the year-ended December 31, 2016. This reclassification has an adverse effect on the 
accounting presentation of the Group’s working capital position at December 31, 2016.

The table below shows the comparative impact of the Groups working capital position with 
the reclassification and without the reclassification:

  IFRS                     Non-IFRS                     IFRS                     Non-IFRS                     
 For the periods ended Dec 31, 2016  Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015  Dec 31, 2015 
  As Reported Adjustment Adjusted As Reported Adjustment Adjusted

Current Assets 44,511 (647) 43,864 47,494 – 47,494
Less: Cash and equivalents (102) – (102) (81) – (81)
Current Liabilities (57,421) 11,937 (45,484) (51,923) 3,324 (48,599)
Non-Cash Working Capital Position (13,012) 11,290 (1,722) (4,510) 3,324 (1,186)
Working Capital Ratio 0.78  0.96 0.92  0.98

The Group’s adjusted working capital ratio has declined moderately when compared to last 
year at 0.96 to 1 compared with 0.98 to 1 at December 31, 2015. The adjustments identified 
to calculate the Group’s adjusted working capital ratio in 2016 was the long-term portion 
of CIBC and EDC debt that was classified as current removed from current liabilities as well 
as the fair value asset relating foreign currency forward contracts. In 2015 the adjustment 
identified was the current portion Group’s fair value liability relating to foreign currency 
forward contracts.  
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Shareholders’ equity of $20.1 million at December 31, 2016 is $3.5 million less than the 
shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2015 due largely to the net income in the period of 
$4.0 million offset by the distribution of the shares received of Tornado Global Hydrovacs 
Ltd. to its shareholders of $8.3 million. No dividends were declared or paid in the year. The 
Group maintains a stock option plan for the benefit of officers, directors, key employees and 
consultants of the Group. The Group had 6,067,500 outstanding options at December 31, 
2016. The average exercise price of the outstanding options is $0.40 per share. Of these 
options, 5,260,416 are currently exercisable at an average exercise price of $0.39 per share.

MARKET CAPITALIZATION

The market capitalization of the Group’s 65,937,060 issued and outstanding common 
shares at April 25, 2017 was $27.0 million or $0.41 per share, which is greater than the 
Group’s book value per share of $0.31 at December 31, 2016. The issued and outstanding 
common shares at April 25, 2016, together with securities convertible into common shares 
are summarized in the table below.

 Fully Diluted Shares   
 As at April 25, 2017   

Issued and outstanding common shares     65,937,060
Securities convertible into common shares   
Warrants    6,925,000  
Stock Options    6,067,500  
Total Securities convertible into common shares      12,992,500
Fully Diluted Shares     78,929,560

SEGMENT PERFORMANCE

The Group’s operations consist of three separately identifiable segments, Media-Based 
Attraction, Steel Fabrication Services and Corporate. The Manufactured Products segment 
was divested during 2016 and is now presented as discontinued operations. The 
performance of the Group’s operating segments are listed below: 

MEDIA-BASED ATTRACTIONS

 Periods ended Dec 31          Twelve months ended                                               Quarter ended                   
  2016 2015 Variance  2016 2015 Variance

Operating Results:

Revenues  101,991 102,961 (970)  23,681 29,297 (5,616)
Adjusted gross margin  21,258 19,714 1,544  7,823 7,354 469
Adjusted gross margin %  20.8% 19.1% 1.7%  33.0% 25.1% 7.9%
Adjusted EBITDA  10,594 11,665 (1,071)  3,879 4,537 (658)
Adjusted EBITDA %  10.4% 11.3%  (0.9%)  16.4% 15.5% 0.9%
Adjusted EBIT  7,446 10,296 (2,850)  2,311 4,051 (1,740)
Adjusted EBIT %  7.3% 10.0%  (2.7%)  9.8% 13.8%  (4.1%)
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STEEL FABRICATION

 Periods ended Dec 31          Twelve months ended                                               Quarter ended                   
  2016 2015 Variance  2016 2015 Variance

Operating Results:

Revenues  15,778 28,147 (12,369)  3,816 4,249 (433)
Adjusted gross margin  986 3,131 (2,145)  (1,020) 433 (1,453)
Adjusted gross margin %  6.2% 11.1% (4.9%)  (26.7%) 10.2% (36.9%)
Adjusted EBITDA  (2,115) (465) (1,650)  (1,899) (567) (1,332)
Adjusted EBITDA %  (13.4%)  (1.7%) (11.8%)   49.8%) (13.3%) (36.4%)
Adjusted EBIT  (2,605) (873) (1,732)  (2,138) (693) (1,445)
Adjusted EBIT %  (16.5%)  (3.1%) (13.4%)  (56.0%) (16.3%) (39.7%)

CORPORATE (NON-OPERATING)

 Periods ended Dec 31          Twelve months ended                                               Quarter ended                   
  2016 2015 Variance  2016 2015 Variance

Operating Results:       

Revenues  218 117 101  34 119 (85)
Adjusted gross margin  218 117 101  34 119 (85)
Adjusted EBITDA  (2,885) (3,061) 176  (801) (969) 168
Adjusted EBIT  (2,895) (3,082) 187  (796) (990) 194

OTHER MATTERS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS necessitates the use 
of management estimates, assumptions and judgment that affect reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements. Although management reviews its estimates on 
an ongoing basis, actual results may differ from these estimates as confirming events 
occur. The following components of the financial statements depend most heavily on 
such management estimates, assumptions and judgment, any changes in which may 
have a material impact on the Group’s financial condition or results of operations. For 
more information about certain assumptions and risks that may affect these estimates, 
assumptions and judgments, please see the “Forward Looking Information” section of this 
MD&A.

Revenue recognition

The percentage of completion method and the revenue to be recognized are determined on 
the basis of estimates for which the Group has implemented an internal financial budgeting  
and reporting system which relies on historical experience. The Group reviews the estimates 
of contract revenue and contract costs as of each reporting date. Contract losses are 
recognized as soon as they are identified.
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Cash generating units 

For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash inflows. Management determines which groups 
of assets are capable of generating cash inflows that are largely independent of other 
operations within the Group.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Given the nature of business and the credit terms provided to customers, estimates and 
judgements are inherent in the on-going assessment of the recoverability of some accounts 
receivable. The Group maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect expected 
credit losses. The Group is not able to predict changes in the financial conditions of its 
customers and the Group’s judgement related to the recoverability of accounts receivable 
may be materially impacted if the financial condition of the Group’s customers deteriorates.

Valuation of inventory

Estimates and judgements are inherent in the determination of the net realizable value of 
inventories. The cost of inventories may not be fully recoverable if they are damaged or if the 
selling price of the inventory is less than its cost. The Group regularly reviews its inventory 
quantities and reduces the cost attributed to inventory no longer deemed to be fully 
recoverable. Estimates related to the determination of net realizable value may be impacted 
by a number of factors including market conditions.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of share-based payments to employees by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the date on which they are granted. Estimating fair value 
for share-based payment transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation 
model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also 
requires the determination of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including 
the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions 
about them. 

Valuation of Long-lived Assets and Asset Impairment

The Group periodically assesses the recoverability of values assigned to long-lived assets 
after considering potential impairment indicated by such factors as business and market 
trends, future prospects, current market value and other economic factors. In performing 
its review of recoverability, management estimates the future cash flows expected to result 
from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected future cash 
flows is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss would be recognized 
based on the excess of the carrying value of the asset over the fair market value calculated 
using discounted future cash flows.

Useful lives of key property, plant and equipment investment property and   
intangible assets

The depreciation method and useful lives reflect the pattern in which management expects  
the asset’s future economic benefits to be consumed by the Group. Useful lives, 
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  depreciation methods, and residual values are reviewed periodically and, historically,   
 changes to estimates of remaining useful lives have not been material. 

Deferred Income Taxes

The Group accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this 
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on deductible or taxable 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of the assets and 
liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantially enacted 
tax rates expected to apply in the years in which the temporary differences are expected 
to reverse. If the estimates and assumptions are modified in the future, the Group may 
be required to reduce or increase the value of deferred tax assets or liabilities resulting 
in, where applicable, an income tax expense or recovery. The Group regularly evaluates 
deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Investment tax credits

Federal and provincial investment tax credits are accounted for as a reduction to the 
corresponding expenditures in the period in which the credits are earned and when there is 
reasonable assurance that the credits can be used to recover taxes.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
OPERATING RESULTS

The Group’s mix of businesses typically require significant financial resources, and there is no 
assurance that future revenues will be sufficient to generate the funds required to continue 
the Group’s business development and marketing activities. In certain markets, the Group 
competes with local, regional, national and international companies for work. With the 
experience of the Group’s operating subsidiaries, management believes it has developed 
systems, policies, and procedures to mitigate this risk.

DESIGN RISK

As the Media Based Attractions segment is on the cutting edge of attraction design, there 
is the risk that new attractions will not perform as designed. This may result in significant 
costs to re-design and modify attractions after they have been manufactured and installed 
to bring them into conformity with contractual performance specifications, or it may result 
in contractual penalties including rejection of the attraction by the customer. The Group 
mitigates against these risks by ensuring it has multiple technical solutions to cutting edge 
engineering issues, so if the preferred solution does not function as intended, there are still 
alternatives.

PROJECT PERFORMANCE

Most of the Group’s sales contracts are fixed-price contracts, often resulting from 
competitive bids. When bidding on a project, the Group estimates its costs, including 
projected increases in the costs of labour, materials and services.
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Despite these estimates, actual costs could vary from the estimated amounts. These 
variations could adversely affect the Group’s business. Any inability of the Group’s 
subsidiaries to execute customer projects in accordance with requirements, including 
adherence to completion timetables, may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
business, operations and prospects. The Group recognizes revenue using the percentage of 
completion accounting method, based on costs incurred as compared to projected costs. 
Estimated losses on contracts are immediately recognized. Revenue estimates are based on 
management assumptions supported by historical experience. There can be no assurance 
that these estimates made during the contract execution phase will not vary from the actual 
results measured at the completion of the contract.

COST OF COMPONENTS AND RAW MATERIALS

Significant components include audio visual equipment such as screens 
and projectors, motion control equipment and software, robot arm 
equipment, launch equipment. The Group mitigates the risk of cost 
escalation in these components by means of long term strategic alliances 
with suppliers, by procurement policies and procedures designed 
to ensure that there are multiple suppliers available and that specific 
components are contracted for on a fixed price basis. However, the 
cutting edge nature of the work being undertaken in the Media Based 
Attractions segment means that there is still risk that the components will 
ultimately cost more than originally estimated on any particular project.

The principal cost of raw material is structural steel and other steel 
products. These supply and pricing arrangements are negotiated 
directly with steel manufacturers or steel supply companies that buy 
and warehouse steel products. Where appropriate, the Group will 
endeavor to include an escalation clause for material costs in jobs being 
tendered in the industrial, commercial and institutional sector in each 
contract. In the absence of an escalation clause, the Group mitigates its 
risk, to the extent possible, through contracted buying arrangements or 
limitations on the length of time that bids can remain outstanding prior 
to acceptance. In the circumstance of volatility in the commodity price 
of steel, unexpected increases in steel prices which are not hedged by escalation clauses or 
similar means, may negatively impact margins on a particular job and therefore the Group’s 
future results of operations or financial position.

LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS

The Group requires significant amounts of working capital in order to be able to operate. 
The Group’s contracts are primarily based upon firm prices and billing is generally 
performed on a milestone basis. Projects often involve changes or requests for extra work 
and although the Group endeavors to bill promptly for this extra work, any delay in issuing 
change orders can impact cash flows. Contracts typically allow for the customer to withhold 
between five and ten percent of the Group’s total billings until the completion of the project. 
As a consequence, larger and longer-term projects can greatly increase capitalization 
requirements for working capital.
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The Group’s ability to obtain additional capital is a significant factor in achieving 
its strategy of expansion in the construction industry. There can be no assurance 
that the current working capital of the Group will be sufficient to enable it to 
implement all of its objectives. Furthermore, the current state of the world’s 
financial markets may limit the Group’s ability to access credit in the event that it 
identifies a potential acquisition or some other business opportunity that would 
require a significant investment in resources. There can be no assurance that 
if and when the Group seeks equity or debt financing, it will be able to obtain 
the required funding on favourable commercial terms, or at all. Any such future 
financing may also result in additional dilution to existing shareholders.

The Group requires sufficient financing to fund its operations. Failure to obtain 
financing on a timely basis could cause missed acquisition opportunities, 
delays in expansion and may also impact ongoing operations.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Rapid currency fluctuations can have a significant impact on un-hedged non-Canadian dollar 
denominated projects. The Media Based Attractions segment in particular sells in foreign 
currency, mostly US dollars. Similarly, many of the raw material and component inputs are 
purchased in US dollars. Where possible, the net exposure from these projects have been 
hedged with forward contracts to sell US dollars.

GLOBAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

The current economic downturn has demonstrated that businesses and industries 
throughout the world are very tightly connected to each other. Thus, events seemingly 
unrelated to the Group may adversely affect the Group over the course of time. For example, 
a credit contraction in financial markets, combined with reduced economic activity, 
may adversely affect theme park operators, developers, general contractors, and other 
businesses that collectively constitute a significant portion of the Group’s customer base. 
As a result, these customers may need to reduce their purchases of the Group’s products 
or services, or the Group may experience greater difficulty in receiving payment for the 
products or services that these customers purchase from the Group. Any of these events, or 
any other events caused by turmoil in world financial markets, may have a material adverse 
effect on the Group’s business, operating results, and financial condition.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk arises from the possibility that customers may experience financial difficulty and 
be unable to fulfill their commitments to the Group. Notwithstanding the Group’s current 
credit policies and practices, there can be no assurance that customers will remain able to 
fulfill their commitments to the Group which may have an adverse effect on the Group’s 
financial performance.

BONDING CAPACITY

Some customers require performance bonds underwritten by insurance providers, or 
irrevocable letters of credit as a condition of contract award. However, there can be no 
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assurance that the Group will be able to obtain such bonds or letters of credit in the quantity 
required to maintain or increase its level of activity.

RELIANCE ON KEY PERSONNEL

The business activities of the Group involve a certain degree of risk that even a combination 
of experience, knowledge and diligence may not be able to overcome. Shareholders must 
rely on the ability, expertise, judgment, direction and integrity of the management of the 
Group. Success will be dependent on the services of a number of key personnel, including 
its executive officers and other key employees, the loss of any one of whom could have an 
adverse effect on its operations and business prospects. The Group feels that by being a 
publicly traded company it will have more flexibility than its private competitors to implement 
attractive incentive plans for key employees to attract and retain the necessary employees.

COMPETITIVE MARKET

The Group’s approach to competitive risk is to develop strong relationships with clients, 
increase the breadth of services offered and to broaden our geographic coverage to 
enhance service and competitiveness. 

Due to the competitive nature of the business, the Group must compete on price and 
quality of service. A significant portion of the Group’s business is to provide a contracted 
scope of work to clients on a fixed price or unit price basis. There can be no assurance that 
the fixed price commitment adequately recovers the full cost of providing the contracted 
scope of work. Nor can there be any assurance that the contracted scope of work is so 
clear as to prevent disagreements over the interpretation of what has been contracted for. 
Management is of the view that the Group’s experience in the industry provides it with the 
necessary expertise to resolve disputes that may arise in a manner that is satisfactory to the 
Group’s overall requirements.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Fluctuations in interest rates will affect that portion of the Group’s debt that is subject to 
variable interest rates, and will also affect the prices for other financial instruments. Such 
fluctuations could have an adverse effect on the Group’s financial performance.

LABOUR RELATIONS

The employment of skilled tradespersons in the field and shops is subject to multi-
year, collective agreements with a variety of unions. The increasing shortage of skilled 
tradespersons is increasing the wage expectations and concessions of all fabricators and 
manufacturers. The Group has three non-union shops, and two unionized shops that are 
subject to their own collective agreements and several different collective agreements 
relating to field erection. The Group is at risk if there are labour disruptions relating to any  
of these collective agreements.

Management feels the staggered expiration dates and independence of each collective 
agreement mitigates the issue of work stoppage that may arise at any one location.
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ACQUISITIONS

The Group may seek to expand its business through acquisitions and may divest 
underperforming or non-core businesses. The Group’s success depends, in part, upon 
management’s ability to identify such acquisition and divestiture opportunities and to 
negotiate favourable contractual terms. The Group’s ability to successfully integrate 
acquisitions into its operations could affect Empire’s financial results.

The Group assesses the “labour/capital” trade-off that is associated with the increased 
usage of software to enhance employee productivity and increase profitability. Management 
has historically invested in prudent capital expenditures designed to mitigate the increasing 
cost of labour and the historically tight supply of skilled tradespersons. To the extent that the 
Group is unable to continue to invest in technological advancements designed to enhance 
its competitive cost structure, it may have an adverse effect on the Group’s operations.

ENVIRONMENT/REGULATORY

Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner expected to result in stricter standards 
and enforcement, larger fines and liability and potentially increased capital expenditures 
and operating costs. No assurance can be given that environmental laws will not result in 
an increase in the costs of the Group’s activities or otherwise adversely affect the Group’s 
financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

The Group maintains insurance consistent with industry practice to protect against losses 
due to sudden and accidental environmental contamination, accidental destruction of 
assets, and other operating accidents or disruption. The Group also has operational and 
emergency response procedures, and safety and environmental programs in place to 
reduce potential loss exposure. The Group believes that it is in substantial compliance, in 
all material respects, with all current environmental legislation and is taking such steps as it 
believes are prudent to ensure that compliance will be maintained.
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking statements.” All statements, other than 
statements of historical fact, that address activities, events or developments that the Group 
believes, expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future (including, without limitation, 
statements regarding financial and business prospects and financial outlook) are forward 
looking statements. These forward-looking statements reflect the current expectations 
or beliefs of the Group, based on information currently available to the Group. Forward-
looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions that 
may cause the actual results of the Group to differ materially from those discussed in the 
forward-looking statements and, even if such actual results are realized or substantially 
realized, there can be no assurance that they will have the expected consequences to, or 
effects on the Group. Factors that could cause actual results or events to differ materially 
from current expectations include, among other things, changes in general economic and 
market conditions, changes to regulations affecting the Group’s activities, and uncertainties 
relating to the availability and costs of financing needed in the future. Any forward-looking 
statement speaks only as at the date on which it is made and, except as may be required 
by applicable securities laws, the Group disclaims any intent or obligation to update any 
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or results 
or otherwise. Although the Group believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-
looking statements are reasonable, forward looking statements are not guarantees of future 
performance and, accordingly, undue reliance should not be put on such statements due to 
the inherent uncertainty therein.

NON-IFRS METHODS
In this MD&A, the Group uses two financial management metrics that are not in accordance 
with IFRS “Adjusted earnings (loss) before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization 
(Adjusted EBITDA)” and “Adjusted Gross Margin”. Because these terms are not defined 
by IFRS they cannot be formally presented in the consolidated financial statements. The 
definition of Adjusted EBITDA does not take into account the Group’s share of profit of 
an associate investment, gains and losses on the disposal of assets, fair value changes in 
foreign currency forward contracts and non-cash components of stock based compensation. 
Adjusted EBIT is the result of the Group’s Adjusted EBITDA less depreciation and amortization 
expenses. The Adjusted Gross Margin metric is the result of revenues less cost of sales, 
excluding depreciation of property, plant and equipment. Cashflow Generation by Operations 
is the result of subtracting finance costs from Adjusted EBITDA. It should be noted that the 
Group’s definition of Cashflow Generated by Operations, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBIT 
and Adjusted Gross Margin may differ from those definitions used by other companies. 

While not IFRS measures, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBIT and Adjusted Gross Margin are 
used by management, creditors, analysts, investors and other financial stakeholders to assess 
the Group’s performance and management from a financial and operational perspective.
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RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT (LOSS) TO ADJUSTED EBITDA

 Periods ended Dec 31          Twelve months ended                                               Quarter ended                   
  2016 2015 Variance  2016 2015 Variance

Profit (loss) — before taxes — continuing ops  2,823 2,696 127  (2,850) 1,414 (4,264)
Add : Depreciation and amortization  3,648 1,800 1,848  1,801 634 1,167
Add/Deduct : (Gain) loss on disposal   1,001 253 748  968 202 766
 of assets and other (income) loss
Add : Finance costs  1,425 1,084 341  452 78 374
Add/Deduct : Deduct Share of profit of associate  501 (26) 527  153 (146) 299
Add/Deduct : Fair value of changes of   (4,398) 2,126 (6,524)  610 780 (170)
 foreign currency option contracts
Add : non cash stock-based compensation  594 206 388  45 38 7
Adjusted EBITDA   5,594 8,139 (2,545)  1,179 3,000 (1,821)

CALCULATION OF ADJUSTED EBIT       

 Periods ended Dec 31          Twelve months ended                                               Quarter ended                   
  2016 2015 Variance  2016 2015 Variance

Adjusted EBITDA  5,594 8,139 (2,545)  1,179 3,000 (1,821)
Less : Depreciation and amortization  (3,648) (1,800) (1,848)  (1,801) (634) (1,167)
Adjusted EBIT   1,946 6,339 (4,393)  (622) 2,366 (2,988)
% of revenue  1.6% 4.8% (3.2%)  (2.3%) 7.0% (9.3%)

CALCULATION OF ADJUSTED GROSS MARGIN

 Periods ended Dec 31          Twelve months ended                                               Quarter ended                   
  2016 2015 Variance  2016 2015 Variance

Revenues  117,987 131,225 (13,238)  27,531 33,664 (6,133)
Cost of sales excluding depreciation
 and amortization  (95,525) (108,263) 12,738  (20,694) (25,759) 5,065
Adjusted gross margin  22,462 22,962 (500)  6,837 7,905 (1,068)
% of revenue  19.04% 17.50% 1.54%  24.83% 23.48% 1.35%

CALCULATION OF CASHFLOW GENERATED BY OPERATIONS 

 Periods ended Dec 31          Twelve months ended                                               Quarter ended                   
  2016 2015 Variance  2016 2015 Variance

Adjusted EBITDA  5,594 8,139 (2,545)  1,179 3,000 (1,821)
 Less: Finance Costs  (1,425) (1,084) (341)  (452) (78) (374)
Cashflow Generated by Operations  4,169 7,055 (2,886)  727 2,922 (2,195)



December 31, 2016

AUDITED

Consolidated
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Management’s Report to the Shareholders 
of Empire Industries Ltd.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Empire 

Industries Ltd. contained in this annual report, including the notes 

thereto, have been prepared by management in accordance with 

the Company’s accounting policies, which are in compliance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IRFS). In addition, the 

financial information contained elsewhere in this Annual Report is 

consistent with the financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the financial statements 

included in this annual report. The Audit Committee reviewed the 

contents of the consolidated financial statements with management 

and the independent auditor prior to their approval by the Board of 

Directors. The independent auditor discussed their audit work with  

the Committee.

Management has overall responsibility for internal controls and 

maintains accounting control systems designed to provide reasonable 

assurance that transactions are properly authorized, assets safeguarded 

and that the financial records form a reliable base for the preparation  

of accurate and timely financial information.

Guy Nelson, MBA, B. Comm.    Michael Martin, CA 
Chief Executive Officer    Chief Financial Officer

April 25, 2017
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Independent Auditors’ Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Empire Industries Ltd. and its 
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 and the consolidated statements of compre-
hensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts  
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonable-
ness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Empire Industries Ltd. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 
2016 and December 31, 2015, and their financial performance and their cash flows for  
the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Winnipeg, Manitoba Chartered Professional Accountants 

April 25, 2017

2500–201 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877) 500-0795

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EMPIRE INDUSTRIES LTD.:
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 For the years ended December 31    Notes Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
 (In $000’s CAD, except where otherwise indicated)    

Revenues (1)      117,987  131,225
Cost of sales, excluding depreciation and amortization (2)   18  (95,525)  (108,263)
Gross Profit, excluding depreciation and amortization     22,462  22,962

Selling and administration expenses    19  (16,868)  (14,823)
Result before depreciation, amortization finance costs, and other items    5,594  8,139

Finance costs    20  (1,425)  (1,084)
Result before depreciation, amortization and other items     4,169  7,055

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment    9  (2,077)  (1,035)
Amortization of intangible assets    8  (1,571)  (765)
Result before other items of income      521  5,255

Share of (loss) profit from associate    10  (501)  26
Stock-based compensation    17  (594)  (206)
Fair value changes in derivative financial instruments   26  4,398  (2,126)
Impairment, losses on disposal and other items    21  (1,001)  (253)
Net Income from continuing operations before tax      2,823  2,696

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations (net of tax)   28  2,564  (479)

Income tax (expense) recovery
Current     23  (130)  (192)
Deferred    23  (1,279)  (655)
       (1,409)  (847)
Net income       3,978  1,370
Other comprehensive loss      (57)  (13)
Comprehensive income      3,921  1,357

Income per share continuing operations — basic & diluted   22   0.02   0.03
Income per share discontinued operations — basic & diluted   22   0.04   (0.01)
Income per share all operations — basic & diluted    22   0.06   0.02

(1)  Included in revenue are foreign exchange gains of $1,085 for the year ended December 31, 2016
       (2015 — $1,522) 

(2)  Cost of sales including depreciation and amortization was $98,155 for the year ended December 31, 2016
       (2015 — $109,704) 

       Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization includes investment tax credits of $1,835 of which $755
       were previously unrecognized (2015 — $916 all of which were previously unrecognized) 

See accompanying notes 

Consolidated Statement of  
Comprehensive Income
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 As at    Notes  2016  2015
 (In $000’s CAD, except where otherwise indicated)    

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents    13  102  81
Accounts receivable    5  40,933  44,596
Inventory    7  1,486  1,629
Prepaid expenses      1,343  1,188
Derivative financial instruments    26  647  –
Total current assets      44,511  47,494

Assets held for sale      –  8,674

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment and investment property, net   9  13,983  11,029
Intangible assets, net    8  7,762  4,132
Deferred tax assets    23  7,138  5,829
Note receivable    11  2,814  –
Investment in associate    10  1,489  1,990
Advances to associate    10  929  885
Other non-current assets      92  107
Total non-current assets      34,207  23,972

Total assets      78,718  80,140

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness    13  6,856  6,391
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    12  23,886  20,626
Deferred revenue from construction contracts    6  7,269  19,590
Current income taxes payable    23  –  138
Current portion of long-term debt    14  7,473  903
Long-term debt classified as current    14  11,937  –
Current portion of convertible debentures    16  –  951
Current portion of derivative financial instruments    26  –  3,324
Total current liabilities      57,421  51,923

Liabilities of disposal group      –  1,620

Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt    14  197  1,526
Limited recourse loan    15  955  984
Derivative financial instruments    26  –  427
Total non-current liabilites      1,152  2,937

Total Liabilities      58,573  56,480

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital    17  8,300  7,955
Equity component of convertible debentures    16  –  144
Contributed surplus    17  4,413  3,721
 Retained earnings — opening    17  11,853  10,483
 Net income    17  3,978  1,370
 Dividend distribution of TGHL shares    17  (8,329)  –
Retained earnings — closing      7,502  11,853
Accumulated other comprehensive loss      (70)  (13)
Total shareholders’ equity      20,145  23,660

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity      78,718  80,140

Guarantees and contingencies (note 30)
See accompanying notes

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

   Director    Director

Consolidated Statement of  
Financial Position
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 As at December 31, 2016 Share Equity Contributed  Retained Accumulated Total
  capital component surplus earnings other equity  
   of   comprehensive
 (In $000’s CAD, except  convertible   loss
 where otherwise indicated)  debentures

As at December 31, 2015 7,955 144 3,721 11,853 (13) 23,660
Dividend distribution of shares of TGHL – – – (8,329) – (8,329)
Conversion of convertible debenture 345 (144) 98 – – 299
Net income for the year – – – 3,978 – 3,978
Other comprehensive loss – – – – (57) (57)
Stock-based compensation – – 594 – – 594 
As at December 31, 2016 8,300 0 4,413 7,502 (70) 20,145

 As at December 31, 2015 Share Equity Contributed  Retained Accumulated Total
  capital component surplus earnings other equity  
   of   comprehensive
 (In $000’s CAD, except  convertible   loss
 where otherwise indicated)  debentures

As at December 31, 2014 7,798 151 3,564 10,483 – 21,996
Exercise of stock options and warrants 103 – – – – 103
Conversion of convertible debenture 54 (7) (49) – – (2)
Net income for the year – – – 1,370 – 1,370
Other comprehensive loss – – – – (13) (13)
Stock-based compensation – – 206 – – 206
As at December 31, 2015 7,955 144 3,721 11,853 (13) 23,660

See accompanying notes 

Consolidated Statements of  
Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
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 (In $000’s CAD, except where otherwise indicated)      2016  2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income from continuing operations after tax      1,357  1,836
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash :
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment      2,077  1,035
 Amortization of intangible assets      1,571  765
 Impairment of intangible assets      952  –
 Finance costs paid on short-term borrowings      767  875
 Share of profit from associate investments      501  (26)
 Stock-based compensation      594  206
 Fair value changes in derivative financial instruments     (4,398)  2,126
Other items affecting cash flow (note 31)      (1,169)  (1,213)
Investment tax credits recorded in cost of sales      (1,835)  (1,133) 
Deferred income taxes      2,030  655

Cash from (used in) continuing operations      2,447  5,126

Cash flow from (used in) discontinued operations      (2,120)  (146)
Net change in non-cash working capital balances      (6,597)  6,479
Cash (used in) from operating activities      (6,270)  11,459

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (note 9)     (5,279)  (4,177)
Acquisition of other long term assets      (233)  (36)
Proceeds from repayment of note receivable from TGHL     120  –
Proceeds from sale of items of property, plant and equipment     –  3
Acquisiton of intangible assets (note 8)      (6,902)  (3,161)
Decrease (increase) amounts due from an associate      32  126

Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations     (12,262)  (7,245)

Cash used in investing activities of discontinued operations     (98)  (890)
Cash used in investing activities      (12,360)  (8,135)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds received from warrants and stock options exercised     –  54
Proceeds received from long-term debt and finance leases     18,548  299
Repayment of long-term debt      (1,252)  (874)
Repayment of convertible debentures      (670)  –
Finance costs paid on long-term borrowings      (418)  (344)

Cash from (used in) financing activites of continuing operations     16,208  (865)

Cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations     (37)  (42)
Cash flow from (used in) financing activities      16,171  (907)

EFFECT OF TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY CASH & EQUIVALENTS    2,015  1,027

Net (decrease) increase in cash and equivalents during the period    (444)  3,444
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period      (6,310)  (9,754)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period      (6,754)  (6,310)

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of :
Cash      102  81
Bank indebtedness      (6,856)  (6,391)
       (6,754)  (6,310)

Consolidated Statements of  
Cash Flows
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December 31, 2016 and 2015
Amounts reported in thousands (000’s) except per share amounts

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Empire Industries Ltd. (“Empire or the Group”) designs, fabricates, manufactures, erects and 
sells proprietary engineered products throughout the world. Key customer sectors include the 
entertainment industry, natural resource infrastructure, manufacturing and the government sector. 
Empire also provides steel fabrication and installation services to industrial and infrastructure markets, 
primarily in western Canada as well as participating in the market for oil sands maintenance services 
through its 49% ownership of its aboriginal partnership. 

Empire Industries Ltd. is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange’s venture exchange trading under “EIL” 
and is incorporated under the Business Corporations Act of Alberta, Canada. The head office is located 
at 717 Jarvis Avenue, Winnipeg Manitoba, R2W 3B4.

The consolidated financial statements were recommended for approval by the Audit Committee and 
were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on April 25, 2017.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the year ended December 31, 2016 and include 
the results for the comparative year ended December 31, 2015. The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are 
measured at fair value as disclosed. Included in these consolidated financial statements are the 
accounts for Empire and all its subsidiaries (the “Group”). These consolidated financial statements have 
been presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the Group.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Empire Industries Ltd. and its wholly 
owned subsidiaries: 

 Jurisdiction /  Ownership (%) Main Activity
 Functional Currency 

Empire Iron Works Ltd. CAN/CAD 100% Industrial steel engineering and manufacturing
Dynamic Attractions Ltd. CAN/CAD 100% Media-based attraction integrator
Dynamic Attractions Inc. US/USD 100% Retail sales
Empire Industries HK Ltd. HK/CAD 100% Holding Company
1366377 Texas Inc. US/USD 100% Holding Company
ACE Industrial Services Ltd. CAN/CAD 49% Welding, machining & fabrication
Qiguang Dynamic Structures Ltd. PRC/RMB 45% Industrial steel engineering and manufacturing
Dynamic Optics Inc. CAN/CAD 100%  Holding Company
1868480 Alberta Ltd. CAN/CAD 100%  Holding Company

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as Empire, using consistent 
accounting policies. All inter-company balances, income and expenses and unrealized gains and losses 
resulting from inter-company transactions are eliminated in full.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments and liabilities incurred or assumed at 
the date of exchange. Acquisition costs for business combinations are expensed and included in selling, 
general and administrative expenses. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at fair value at the date of acquisition.
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INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence (i.e. the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the associate) but not have control or joint control. 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. The share of income of 
associates is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and its share of other 
comprehensive income of associates is included in other comprehensive income.

If the cumulative losses exceed the carrying value of the equity investment, they are first applied to any 
additional advances that are receivable from the associate to the extent of the total amount receivable. 
Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that there exists a legal or constructive obligation.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
The reporting currency for the consolidated financial statements is the Canadian dollar. For subsidiaries 
in the Group whose functional currency is not the Canadian dollar, their results are translated into 
Canadian dollars as follows:

• assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the 
statement of financial position date,

• results of operations are translated into Canadian dollars at the average monthly exchange rate;

• foreign exchange differences arising from exchange rate fluctuations are accounted for in other 
comprehensive income and equity.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the 
date of the transaction. Gains or losses resulting from the translations are recognized in comprehensive 
income. Monetary items are translated at the Canadian dollar spot rate as of the reporting date. 
Exchange differences from monetary items are recognized in comprehensive income. Non-monetary 
items that are not carried at fair value are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenues are recorded according to IAS 11, “Construction Contracts”, when the criteria are satisfied; 
otherwise, revenues are recorded in accordance with IAS 18, “Revenue”. A construction contract is a contract 
specifically negotiated for the construction of an asset or a combination of assets that are closely interrelated 
or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and function or their ultimate purpose or use.

Revenue from construction contracts is determined using the percentage of completion method, based 
on the ratio of costs incurred to date over estimated total costs. Contract costs include all direct material 
and labour costs. Provisions are recorded for anticipated contract losses as soon as they are evident. In 
circumstances where significant advance purchases under a contract, such as materials, would result 
in a materially higher percentage of completion estimate for sales than would be indicated by other 
measures such as labour hours, management adjusts the percentage of completion to the lower level 
indicated by the alternative measure.

Anticipated revenues on contracts may include future revenues from claims and unapproved change orders, if 
such additional revenues can be reliably estimated and it is considered probable that they will be recovered.  
Such additional revenues are limited to the costs related to the claims or unapproved change orders.

Revenues from the design, fabrication and installation of equipment are recorded when the products 
are completed and accepted by the customer or the services are rendered and collection is reasonably 
assured. Any foreseeable losses on contracts are charged to operations at the time they become 
evident. Revenues from the sale of used equipment are recognized when title passes from the Group to 
its customers and collection is reasonably assured. Revenues from operating leases are recognized over 
the lease term including estimated renewal periods.

Other revenues are recognized when earned in accordance with IAS 18.

INCOME TAXES
Tax expense is comprised of two components; current tax expense and deferred tax expense.

Current tax 
Recoverable tax assets or current tax liabilities represent the tax authorities’ obligations or claims for 
prior or current periods which are not received or paid at the end of the reporting period. Current tax is
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based on taxable income which differs from accounting income by definition. Recoverable tax assets or 
current tax liabilities are measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is determined based on differences between the carrying amounts of the assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
calculation of taxable income. Deferred tax assets or liabilities are measured based on tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period, and that are expected 
to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized for all deductible or taxable temporary differences 
arising if it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and that 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference(s) can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset 
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority.

Investment tax credits
Federal and provincial investment tax credits are accounted for as a reduction to the corresponding 
expenditures and assets in the period in which the credits are earned and when there is reasonable 
assurance that the credits can be used to recover taxes. 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as 
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the 
asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be 
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within 
one year from the date of classification.

In the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the reporting period, and of the comparable 
period, income and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separately from income 
and expenses from continuing operations, down to the level of profit after taxes. In the consolidated 
statement of financial position, non-current assets held for sale have been separately identified. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated 
or amortized.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of any accumulated depreciation, impairment 
losses and subsequent reversals (if any). Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

 Buildings (including investment property) 25 years 
 Machinery and equipment (“M&E”) 3 – 15 years 
 Vehicles 1 – 7 years 
 Office furniture and equipment (“Office Equip”) 3 – 10 years 
 Leasehold improvements Over the lease period 
 Parking lots 10 years

The assets’ useful lives, residual values and methods of depreciation of assets are reviewed annually, 
and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Investment property is held to earn rental income and for capital appreciation. It is recognized at cost  
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. With the exception of land, which  
is not depreciated, investment property is depreciated using the straight-line method over its useful life 
(25 years). Useful lives and residual values are revised annually or when warranted by the circumstances.

LEASES
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the
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leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are 
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized in finance costs 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated 
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time, which the Group considers to be 12 months or more, to 
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are initially recognized when the recognition criteria outlined in IAS 38 – Intangible Assets 
are met. IAS 38 outlines the recognition criteria as well as the nature of the amounts to be recognized. 

Internally generated intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated 
impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization method and 
amortization period of an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least annually. Change in 
the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied 
in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are 
treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite 
useful lives is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Finite life intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
related assets as follows:

 Internally developed product designs 3 – 7 years 
 Internally generated patents 5 – 7 years

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognized.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that the non-
current assets have been impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
determined. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss when the carrying amount of the asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group determines the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. The recoverable amount 
of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In the measurement of the 
value in use, estimates of future cash flows are discounted at their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset for which estimates of cash flows have not been adjusted.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when 
purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. 

INVENTORY
Inventory is comprised of raw materials and work in progress. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost 
and net realizable value, using an average cost basis. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price
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in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale. When the circumstances that previously caused inventories to be written down below 
cost no longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an increase in selling prices, the amount of the 
write down previously recorded is reversed.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently recognized 
according to their classification. The classification depends on the intention with which the financial 
instruments were acquired and their characteristics. Unless specific circumstances permitted under IFRS 
are present, the classification is not modified after initial recognition.

HIERARCHY OF FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value into three levels according 
to the observability of the inputs used in their measurement. 

LEVEL 1 
Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement 
date for identical assets or liabilities.

LEVEL 2
Values based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that are observable either 
directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

LEVEL 3 
Values based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable and 
significant to the overall fair value measurement.

Financial assets
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss [“FVTPL”] — Financial assets classified as assets held 
for trading are recognized at fair value at each reporting period date, and any change in the fair value is 
reflected in profit or loss in the period during which these changes take place.

Loans and receivables — Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are accounted for at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest income is included in profit or loss over 
the expected life of the financial asset.

Held-to-maturity investments — Bonds with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates 
where the Group has a positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity 
investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method less impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

Available for sale assets — Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are recorded at fair value, 
and the gains/losses resulting from the revaluation at the end of each period are recognized in other 
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, all cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in 
accumulated other comprehensive income are reflected in comprehensive income.

Impairment of Financial Assets
Financial assets, other than FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash 
flows of the investment have been impacted.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amounts of all financial assets are reduced by the impairment loss directly with the 
exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit 
or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does
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not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an 
impairment loss is recognised directly in equity.

Derecognition of financial assets 
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. 
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for 
the proceeds receivables.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of 
the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or other financial liabilities. 
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL if the financial liability is either held for trading or it is 
designated as such upon initial recognition.

Other financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost, where applicable, using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds 
(net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of 
the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at fair value determined using the 
perspective of a market participant at the measurement date which is typically the proceeds received. 
Direct issue costs are deducted from this value.

Convertible debentures
The proceeds from the offerings of convertible debentures are recognized as a liability component 
and an equity component, which represents the fair value of equity and the fair value of the financial 
liability from the fair value of the convertible debentures issued. The fair value of the financial liability 
is estimated by comparing the stated interest rate on the debentures to the prevailing market rates for 
non-convertible debt with all other terms and conditions consistent to the underlying debenture.

Warrants
Warrants granted in connection with issuing common shares and convertible debentures are recorded 
at fair value on the date of grant using the Black–Scholes option-pricing model or other appropriate 
measure. The component of the capital raised attributable to the fair value of the warrants is recorded 
in the corresponding period to contributed surplus. Any consideration paid by the warrant holder on 
exercise of the warrant is credited to share capital and contributed surplus is decreased.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate 
risk, comprising foreign exchange forward contracts and options. Derivatives are initially recognised at 
their fair values at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured to 
their fair values at the end of each reporting period. The Group’s derivatives are not designated or do 
not qualify for hedge accounting, any subsequent change in fair value is recognized in income.
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TRANSACTION COSTS

Transaction costs related to financial instruments that are not classified as assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit and loss, are recognized on the consolidated statement of financial position as 
an adjustment to the cost of the financial instrument upon initial recognition and amortized using the 
effective interest rate method. Deferred financing expenses related to revolving loans and recognized 
under non-current assets are amortized over the financing period.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The computation of earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted earnings per share are computed in a similar way to basic earnings per share 
except that the weighted average shares outstanding are increased to include additional shares assuming 
the exercise of share options, share appreciation rights and convertible debt options, if dilutive.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
Employees of the Group may receive remuneration in the form of stock options. Awards granted under 
the Group’s stock option plan are recognized in comprehensive income using the fair value method 
using the Black Scholes method for option valuation. 

Equity settled transactions
The cost of equity settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in other 
capital reserves, in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.

When options, warrants and other share-based compensation awards are exercised or exchanged, the 
amounts previously credited to contributed surplus are reversed and credited to shareholder’s equity. 
The amount of cash, if any, received from participants is also credited to shareholder’s equity.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
diluted earnings per share.

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS
A reportable business segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities 
from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the Group’s other segments. All inter-segment transactions are accounted 
for at fair value. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s 
Chief Executive Officer to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess 
its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. The Group has three main 
reportable segments; Media-Based Attractions, Steel Fabrication Services and Corporate segment.  
The operating segments are described below.

 Operating Segment Description

Media-based Design and manufacture complex ride systems, telescopes and custom machinery and equipment.  
Attractions Turn key supplier of premium entertainment attractions and provider of parts and service of amusement  
 park attractions. Leased production facilities in Port Coquitlam, BC. Leased sales offices in Orlando FL,  
 Arlington, TX and Toronto, ON.

Steel Fabrication Structural steel fabrication and installation. Fabrication of tanks, pressure vessels and other specialty  
Services carbon and stainless steel products. One owned production facility west of Edmonton, AB and a leased  
 sales office in Edmonton, AB as well as a leased production facility in Winnipeg, MB.

Corporate Head office located in Winnipeg. Executive management, managerial and financial oversight, business  
 development and compliance requirements for the overall organization as well as management  
 services to the other operating segments.

POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
The Group contributes to retirement savings plans subject to maximum limits per employee. The Group 
accounts for such defined contributions as an expense in the period in which the contributions are 
required to be made. The Group does not have any defined benefit plans.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND 
ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Actual results could differ from those judgements, estimates and 
assumptions. The items whose actual results could differ significantly from those judgements, estimates 
and assumptions are described below.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS MADE IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
CASH GENERATING UNITS
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows. Management determines which groups of assets are capable of 
generating cash inflows that are largely independent of other operations within the Group.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
REVENUE RECOGNITION
The percentage of completion method and the revenue to be recognized are determined on the basis 
of estimates for which the Group has implemented an internal financial budgeting and reporting system 
which relies on historical experience. The Group reviews the estimates of contract revenue and contract 
costs as of each reporting date. Contract losses are recognized as soon as they are identified.

The determination of anticipated costs for completing a contract is based on estimates that can be 
affected by a variety of factors such as potential variances in scheduling and cost of materials along with 
the availability and cost of qualified labour and subcontractors, productivity, and possible claims from 
subcontractors.

The determination of anticipated revenues includes the contractually agreed revenue and may also 
involve estimates of future revenues from claims and unapproved change orders if such additional 
revenues can be reliably estimated and it is considered probable that they will be recovered. A change 
order results from a change to the scope of the work to be performed compared to the original contract 
that was signed. An example of such contract variation could be a change in the specifications or design 
of the project, whereby costs related to such variation might be incurred prior to the client’s formal 
contract amendment signature. A claim represents an amount expected to be collected from the client or 
a third-party as reimbursement for costs incurred that are not part of the original contract. In both cases, 
management’s judgments are required in determining the probability that additional revenue will be 
recovered from these variations and in determining the measurement of the amount to be recovered. 
Revenues associated with these construction costs will be recognized if management believes the 
receipt of such revenues is probable and the amount to be received can be measured reliably. 

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS
Given the nature of business and the credit terms provided to customers, estimates and judgements 
are inherent in the on-going assessment of the recoverability of some accounts receivable. The Group 
maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect expected credit losses. The Group is not able 
to predict changes in the financial conditions of its customers and the Group’s judgement related to 
the recoverability of accounts receivable may be materially impacted if the financial condition of the 
Group’s customers deteriorates.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE
The Group classifies assets held for sale when the criteria outlined in IFRS 5 are satisfied. The criteria to 
be satisfied are as follows:

1. The carrying amount of the assets to be classified as held for sale will be principally recovered 
through the proposed transaction;

2. The assets to be classified as held for sale are available for immediate sale;

3. The sale is highly probable; and

4. The Group is committed to a plan to sale the assets to be classified as held for sale.

As at December 31, 2016 the Group has not designated any assets as held for sale.
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VALUATION OF INVENTORY

Estimates and judgements are inherent in the determination of the net realizable value of inventories.  
The cost of inventories may not be fully recoverable if they are damaged or if the selling price of 
the inventory is less than its cost. The Group regularly reviews its inventory quantities and reduces 
the cost attributed to inventory no longer deemed to be fully recoverable. Estimates related to the 
determination of net realizable value may be impacted by a number of factors including market 
conditions.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Group measures the cost of share-based payments to employees by reference to the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the date on which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based 
payment transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent 
on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires the determination of the most 
appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option, volatility and 
dividend yield and making assumptions about them. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Expenditures of research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new technical knowledge 
and understanding, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred (note 19). Development activities involve a 
plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. Development 
expenditure is capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product of process is 
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the Group intends to 
and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset (note 8).

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Group’s impairment test is based on value in use calculations that use a discounted cash flow 
model. The cash flows are derived from the forecast and do not include restructuring activities that the 
Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that may enhance the performance of 
the cash generating unit being tested. The calculation is sensitive to the discount rate applied as well as 
the expected future cash inflows.

USEFUL LIVES OF KEY PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets 
are based on management’s judgment and experience. When management identifies that the 
actual useful lives for these assets differ materially from the estimates used to calculate depreciation 
and amortization, that change is adjusted prospectively. Asset lives, depreciation and amortization 
methods, and residual values are reviewed periodically. 

The Group periodically assesses the recoverability of values assigned to long-lived assets after 
considering potential impairment indicated by such factors as significant changes in technological, 
market, economic or legal environment, business and market trends, future prospects, current market 
value and other economic factors. In performing its review of recoverability, management estimates 
either the value in use or fair value less costs to sell.

DEFERRED TAXES
The Group accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on deductible or taxable temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of the assets and liabilities. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are measured using substantially enacted tax rates expected to apply in the 
years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. If the estimates and assumptions 
are modified in the future, the Group may be required to reduce or increase the value of deferred 
tax assets or liabilities resulting in, where applicable, an income tax expense or recovery. The Group 
regularly evaluates deferred tax assets and liabilities. As at December 31, 2015 the Group has an asset 
of $7,138 (2015 — $5,829) pertaining to projected future use based on management’s budget and 
estimates. Management has recorded investment tax credit using costs and project methodologies 
that had been previously accepted as filed.
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4. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
As of January 1, 2017 or later dates, the Group will be required to adopt certain standards and amendments 
issued by the IASB as described below, for which the Group is currently assessing the impact. Standards 
and interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been 
adopted by the Group for these consolidated financial statements. The Group reasonably expects the 
following standards to be applicable to its consolidated financial statements at a future date as listed below:

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
IFRS introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities. 
Under IFRS 9 financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model in which they are 
held and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 also introduced additional changes 
related to the financial liabilities. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. The Group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated 
financial statements.

IFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
IFRS 15, issued in May 2014, specifies how and when entities recognize revenue, as well as requires 
more detailed and relevant disclosures. IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction contracts, IAS 18 
Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the construction of real 
estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers of assets from customers and SIC31 Revenue — barter transactions involving 
advertising services. The standard provides a single, principles based fivestep model to be applied to 
all contracts with customers, with certain exceptions. The five steps are:

1. Identify the contract(s) with the customer.

2. Identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract.

3. Determine the transaction price.

4. Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation in the contract.

5. Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16 LEASES
IFRS 16 — Leases replaces IAS 17 — Leases and requires lessees to account for leases on balance sheet 
by recognizing a right of use asset and a lease liability. Lessor accounting, however, remains largely 
unchanged and the distinction between operating and finance leases is retained. The standard is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier adoption permitted.  
The Group is currently assessing the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Trade      9,339 14,903
Unbilled construction contract receivables (note 6)      30,851 28,569
Other receivables      847 1,124
Allowance for doubtful accounts      (104) –
      40,933  44,596

The Group’s breakdown of the aging of trade accounts receivables is as follows:

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

< 30 days      4,686  3,319
> 30 days      1,613  2,745
> 60 days      402  2,572
> 90 days      966  1,933
Holdbacks      1,672  4,334
      9,339  14,903
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6. CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS
     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Construction costs incurred and estimated profits, less recognized losses to date   186,054 192,283
Less: Progress billings      (162,472) (183,304)
      23,582  8,979
Items recognized and included in the consolidated financial statements as: 
Unbilled construction contract receivables (note 5)      30,851 28,569
Deferred revenue from construction contracts      (7,269) (19,590)
      23,582  8,979

7. INVENTORIES
Inventories are comprised of the following:

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Raw Materials      1,421 1,390
Work-in-progress      65 239
      1,486  1,629

During the year, the Group recorded inventory write-downs of $nil (2015 — $50). The amount of 
inventories recognized as an expense within cost of goods sold is $596 (2015 — $385).

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
    Product  Patents  Total
    Design

Opening cost balance December 31, 2014    1,143  1,278  2,421
Additions    1,391  1,687  3,078
Ending cost balance December 31, 2015    2,534  2,965  5,499
Opening amortization balance December 31, 2014    316  122  438
Amortization expense for the year     359  570  929
Ending amortization balance December 31, 2015    675  692  1,367
Opening net book value December 31, 2014    827  1,156  1,983

Ending net book value December 31, 2015    1,859  2,273  4,132

Opening cost balance December 31, 2015    2,534  2,965  5,499
Additions    3,674  3,228  6,902
Investment tax credits    (366)  (383)  (749)
Disposals    (706)  (1,219)  (1,925)
Ending cost balance December 31, 2016    5,136  4,591  9,727
Opening amortization balance December 31, 2015    675  692  1,367
Amortization expense for the year    701  870  1,571
Disposals    (706)  (267)  (973)
Ending amortization balance December 31, 2016   670  1,295  1,965
Opening net book value December 31, 2015    1,859  2,273  4,132

Ending net book value December 31, 2016    4,466  3,296  7,762
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The Group’s Media-based attractions operating segment has designated certain proprietary product 
designs and other items under development that will be patented as internally generated intangible 
assets. During the year, the Group re-classed specific items with an opening historical cost base of 
$809 and opening accumulated amortization of $221 from product designs to patents when it was 
determined that the specific assets qualified for treatments as patents.

Included in disposals during the year was a product design for which the useful life had been realized 
and management determined that the design no longer had value to the Group. In addition to that, 
patented technology was re-designed by the Group resulting in an impairment charge of $952 being 
recorded by the Group for the previous technology due to its uncertainty regarding future use. Should 
those circumstances change in future accounting periods, the Group will consider reversing all or some 
portion of the impairment charge recorded. 

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

 Land Building M&E Office Lease-  Vehicles Parking Total
    Equip. holds  Lots

COST
Balance, December 31, 2014 850 2,996 10,159 2,865 716 172 45 17,803
Additions  1,108 897 1,089 1,012 71  4,177
Investment tax credits received – – (81) – – – – (81)
Disposals – – (231) (101) – (2) – (334)
Balance, December 31, 2015 850 4,104 10,744 3,853 1,728 241 45 21,565

DEPRECIATION
Balance, December 31, 2014 0 872 5,939 2,582 228 141 26 9,788
Depreciation charge for the year – 130 526 216 141 16 4 1,033
Disposals – – (230) (53) – (2) – (285)
Balance, December 31, 2015 0 1,002 6,235 2,745 369 155 30 10,536
Net book value, December 31, 2015 850 3,102 4,509 1,108 1,359 86 15 11,029

COST
Balance, December 31, 2015 850 4,104 10,744 3,853 1,728 241 45 21,565
Additions – 349 2,711 993 1,220 3 3 5,279
Investment tax credits received – – (224) – – – – (224)
Cumulative translation adjustments – – – (7) (17) (1) – (25)
Disposals – – – (19) 0 (2) – (21)
Balance, December 31, 2016 850 4,453 13,231 4,820 2,931 241 48 26,574

DEPRECIATION
Balance, December 31, 2015 – 1,002 6,235 2,745 369 155 30 10,536
Depreciation charge for the year – 210 819 499 519 27 3 2,077
Cumulative translation adjustments – 0 0 0 (1) 0 0 (1)
Disposals – 0 0 (19) 0 (2) 0 (21)
Balance, December 31, 2016 –    1,212 7,054 3,225 887 180 33 12,591

Net book value, December 31, 2016 850 3,241 6,177 1,595 2,044 61 15 13,983

During the year, the Group recorded revenue of $63 from the investment property (2015 — $75) with 
recoverable direct operating expenses of $37 (2015 — $35). Included in depreciation expense for the 
year is depreciation of $20 relating to the investment property (2015 — $21). The Group estimates that 
the net book value of investment property consisting of land of $190 (2015 — $190) and the net book 
value of the building of $394 (2015 — $415) which the Group estimates approximates the fair value. 

Fully amortized items of property, plant and equipment with a historical cost of $2,166 (2015 — $2,709) 
are still in use by the Group.
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10. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
 ACE Equity Accounted for Investments     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Beginning balance      1,990  1,964
Current year equity earnings      (501)  26
      1,489  1,990

The Group has a 49% interest in Athabasca Chipewyan Empire Industrial Services Ltd. (“ACE”), Fort 
McMurray, Canada, which is involved in the steel fabrication and installation business and provides 
multi-trade industrial construction as well as maintenance services. The Group’s interest in ACE includes 
its wholly owned subsidiary, Lemax Machine and Welding Inc. ACE is a private entity that is not listed on 
any public exchange and as such its independent fair value is not readily determinable.

The tables below disclose the assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 
and income and expenses of ACE for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:

 ACE      Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Current assets      1,813  3,059
Non-current assets      2,338  2,407
Current liabilities      (874)  (1,269)
Non-Current liabilities      (2,294)  (2,190)
Equity      983  2,007

 ACE Revenue and Profit (Loss)     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Revenue      5,638  9,561
Profit      (1,024)  54

The Group has outstanding long-term advances to ACE Industrial Services Ltd. of $929 (2015 — $885). 
The unsecured advances accrue interest at 8% per annum with no specified repayment terms. During 
the year, the Group earned $76 (2015 — $77) in interest income from ACE Industrial Services Ltd and 
management fees of $60 (2015 — $60). 

The Group has a 45% interest in Dongguan Qiguang Dynamic Steel Structures Ltd (“QDSL”), in 
Dongguan, Guangdong P.R. China which is involved in the steel fabrication and installation business in 
China which the Group has assessed as immaterial. QDSL is a private entity and is not listed on any public 
exchange. The Group’s share of future equity earnings will be applied to the principal of the limited 
recourse loan owing to Qiguang Investment (HK) Limited until such time as the principal is repaid in full 
(note 15). The Group assessed the current fair value of the investment at $nil (2015 — $nil). The Group is 
not exposed to any additional losses beyond its initial investment amount. The Group has not disclosed 
any financial information for QDSL as financial information is not available at the date of release.

11. NOTE RECEIVABLE FROM TGHL
As partial consideration for the assets and liabilities of Tornado Trucks, the Group received a note 
receivable in the amount $2,895. The note bears interest at 2.7% payable annually and the principal is 
repayable over 84 months with principal payments of $20 per month for the first 60 months and then 
annual payments of $847 on the 72nd month and $848 on the $84th month. 

The note receivable is secured by all present and after-acquired property of TGHL, subordinate to 
TGHL’s principal lender (if any) and convertible into Class “A” Shares at the choice of the Group and 
under certain conditions including but not limited to, a default of the terms of the note payable that  
are not remedied in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

As at December 31, 2016, the outstanding balance on the note receivable was $2,814 (2015 — $nil) 
which included accrued interest of $39 (2015 — $nil).
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12. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      22,830  18,516
Accrued wages, vacation and bonuses payable      986  1,787
Commodity and other taxes payable      70  323
      23,886  20,626

13. BANK INDEBTEDNESS AND BANK OPERATING LINES
The Group’s cash balance of $102 (2015 — $81) represents funds on deposit. At December 31, 2016, 
the Group had total draws on its bank operating lines of credit of $6,856 (2015 — $6,391). Advances 
on the facility are payable on demand and bear interest at Canadian prime rate plus 1.5%. The overdraft 
facility with a limit of $15,000 (2015 — $15,000) is secured by a general security agreement providing a 
first security interest in all present and after-acquired property of the Group.

14. LONG-TERM DEBT
     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

CIBC term loans      6,084  2,123
EDC term loan      13,427  –
Other finance leases      255  348
      19,766  2,471

Deferred finance costs allocated      (159)  (42)
      19,607  2,429

Less : current portion of long-term debt      7,473  903
Less : long-term debt classified as current      11,937  
Long-term portion      197  1,526

The CIBC term loan bears interest at prime plus 1.5% and matures on November 1, 2018. The Group 
makes equal monthly principal payments of $58 plus accrued interest. The CIBC term loan is part of 
the same facility described in note 13 and is secured by general security agreements providing a first 
security interest in all present and after-acquired property of the Group. The Group has recorded 
unamortized financing costs of $113 (2015 — $42) associated with securing the CIBC term loan as a  
net reduction of the overall long-term debt balance.

The EDC term loan bears interest at the US prime rate plus 2% has an outstanding principal balance of 
$10,000 USD. The loan is repayable in ten quarterly installments of $1,000 USD commencing in April 
2017, to be repaid in full by October 2019. The EDC term loan has specific security ascribed to it in  
co-operation with CIBC and possesses cross-default clauses with the CIBC loan agreement. The Group 
has recorded unamortized financing costs of $46 (2015 — $nil) associated with securing the EDC term 
loan as a net reduction of the overall long-term debt balance. 

Long-term debt of $11,937 (2015 $nil) was classified as current as the Group was in violation of its 
Senior Debt to EBITDA covenant in its credit agreement as at December 31, 2016 for which a formal 
waiver was received after December 31, 2016 but prior to the release of the financial statements. 

Other finance leases are for shop equipment that bears interest between 4 – 7% with aggregate 
monthly payments of $14 maturing between 2016 and 2018. The leases are secured by the assets  
being leased with a net book value of $421 comprised of $384 of machinery and equipment and  
$37 of vehicles (2015 — $278 of machinery and equipment and $136 of office equipment). 
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The Group’s long-term debt is scheduled with consideration of the waiver to be repaid over the next 
five years as follows:

     

2017        $ 7,535
2018         6,720
2019         4,640
2020         612
2021         259
         $ 19,766

15. LIMITED RECOURSE LOAN
The limited recourse loan was issued on November 14, 2011 in the amount of $711 USD (2016 — $955 
and 2015 — $984) and the proceeds were used to fund the Group’s 45% investment in Dongguan 
Qiguang Dynamic Steel Structures Limited (“QDSL”) in Dongguan, Guangdong, P.R. China (note 
10). The loan bears interest at 10% per annum payable quarterly. Security for the loan for Qiguang 
Investment (HK) Limited is restricted to the Group’s shares of QDSL. There is no term on the loan and 
principal repayments for the loan is restricted only to the Group’s share of the equity earnings of QDSL. 
Total interest expense in 2016 of $94 (2015 — $91) has been paid or accrued on the limited recourse 
loan with accrued interest of $70 (2015 — $53) recorded in accounts payable at the date of the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

16. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES
     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Maturing on February 13, 2016
Face value      –  520
Interest rate      –  10.0%
Carrying value      –  520

Maturing on December 28, 2016
Face value      –  450
Interest rate      –  15.0%
Carrying value      –  431
Total Carrying value      –  951

The Group’s two tranches of subordinate convertible debentures matured during the year. The first 
tranche with a face value of $520 matured on February 13, 2016 and was repaid in full. The second 
tranche matured on December 28, 2016. Debentures with a face value $300 were converted into 
common shares and debentures with a face value of $150 were repaid. 

The fair value of the subordinated convertible debentures at December 31, 2015 was $951 and was 
recorded at amortized cost. Fair value was estimated by comparing the face value of the debentures  
to the prevailing market rates for similar non-convertible debt instruments. 

17. SHARE CAPITAL
COMMON SHARES
The Group is permitted to issue an unlimited number of common shares without nominal or par value 
and an unlimited number of preferred shares. The preferred shares may be issued in one or more 
series, and the Directors are authorized to fix the number of shares in each series and to determine the 
designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the shares of each series.
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     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Common Shares (issued and outstanding — no par value)    65,937,060 64,834,119

Share capital — opening balance      7,955  7,798
Exercise of stock options and warrants      –  103
Conversion of convertible debentures      345  54
      8,300  7,955

During the period, the Group completed a 4 for 1 stock consolidation of its common shares. The Group 
now has 65,937,060 shares outstanding after the completion of the consolidation.

In 2016, 1,102,941 shares were issued through the conversion of convertible debentures. The $345 
increase in share capital is the conversion of the convertible debenture liability of $299 and the equity 
portion of the convertible debentures converted of $46. In 2015, 600,000 shares were issued through 
the exercise of stock options for additional cash proceeds of $54. An additional 500,000 shares issued 
upon conversion of convertible debentures with a face value of $50. 

WARRANTS
The Group has 6,925,000 warrants outstanding from a private placement of common shares in 2013. 
Each outstanding warrant entitles the holder to buy one common share at an exercise price of $0.27 per 
share until July 10, 2018. A summary of the Group’s warrants as at December 31, 2016 and December 31,  
2015 and changes during the periods then ended follows: 

 Dec 31, 2016 Weighted Dec 31, 2015  Weighted
  Average   Average
  Exercise Price  Exercise Price

Balance, beginning of the year  6,925,000  0.27  6,925,000  0.27
Warrants issued  –  –  –  –
Warrants exercised  –  –  –  –
Warrants expired  –  –  –  –
Balance, end of the year  6,925,000  0.27  6,925,000  0.27
Exercisable  6,925,000  0.27  6,925,000  0.27
Weighted remaining average life (years)  1.52    2.52

STOCK OPTIONS
The Group maintains a stock option plan for the benefit of officers, directors, key employees and 
consultants of the Group. At December 31, 2016 the Group was permitted to issue up to a maximum of 
6,593,706 stock options, being 10% of the outstanding common shares. A summary of the Group’s options 
as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 and changes to the years then ended are as follows:

 Dec 31, 2016 Weighted Dec 31, 2015  Weighted
  Average   Average
  Exercise Price  Exercise Price

Balance, beginning of the year  6,002,500  0.39 5,440,000  0.380
Options issued  2,008,750  0.40 812,500  0.40
Options expired (1,413,750)  0.40 0  0.00
Options forfeited  (530,000)  0.37 (100,000)  0.36
Options exercised  –  0.00 (150,000)  0.36
Balance, end of the year  6,067,500  0.40 6,002,500  0.392
Exercisable  5,260,416  0.39 5,460,833  0.392
Weighted remaining average life (years)  3.07   2.45
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                                                   Options — Outstanding                                                       Options — Exercisable                
 Exercise Price ($) Number Weighted Average Weighted Average Number Weighted Average
  Outstanding Remaining Life (years)  Exercise Price ($) Exercisable Exercise Price ($)

0.32 25,000 4.13 0.32 18,750 0.32 
0.36 2,308,750 1.94 0.36 2,308,750 0.36 
0.40 2,921,250 3.88 0.40 2,391,250 0.40 
0.44 250,000 3.07 0.44 166,666 0.44 
0.50 562,500 3.40 0.50 375,000 0.50 
  6,067,500 3.07 0.40 5,260,416 0.39

The fair value associated with the options granted was calculated using the Black–Scholes model for 
option valuation. A summary of the Group’s valuations assumptions, key inputs, valuation results and 
stock-based compensation details are as follows: 

 Year Vesting Assumed Risk-free Market Price Fair 2016 2015
  Term Volatility Rate @ Grant Value SBC SBC

2015 3 Years 138% 0.56% 0.42 85 17 66 
2015 3 Years 134.93% 0.76% 0.50 226 70 140 
2016 2 Years 135.94% 0.53% 0.395 640 501 –
2016 3 Years 127.42% 0.61% 0.32 7 6 –
       594 206

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
Changes in contributed surplus consisted of the following:

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Balance, beginning of the year      3,721  3,564
Stock-based compensation expense (net of forfeitures)     594  206
Equity portion of convertible debentures redeemed      98
Re-class of stock-based compensation expense for options exercised    –  (49)
Balance, end of the year      4,413  3,721

RETAINED EARNINGS

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Opening retained earnings      11,853  10,483
Net income      3,978  1,370
Dividend distribution of shares of TGHL      (8,329)  –
      7,502  11,853

On June 28, 2016, the Group and Tornado Global Hydrovacs Limited (“TGHL”), entered into a plan 
of arrangement to Spin-out the Group’s Hydrovac business (its Manufactured Products operating 
segment) for 32,417,056 common shares of TGHL and a note receivable of $2,895 bearing interest at 
2.7% representing total consideration of $11,224. TGHL also closed private placements for share capital 
totalling $6,954. 

The shares received by the Group were distributed to the shareholders by means of a dividend in 
connection with the spin-off of the Hydrovac business on June 28, 2016 with the existing shareholders 
of the Group receiving ½ shares of TGHL for each common share of Empire.
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The Group accounted for the distribution in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee 17, Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners, which requires the assets 
being distributed to be recognized at fair value. The Group used significant judgments related to the 
fair value measurement of assets and liabilities distributed pursuant to the Arrangement. The estimates 
required management to exercise judgment concerning valuation approaches and methods, estimates 
of future cash flows, and discount rates. The distribution was charged to retained earnings.

18. COST OF SALES
     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Direct construction costs      (81,495)  (94,960)
Indirect salaries and benefits      (8,308)  (8,049)
Indirect production costs      (5,722)  (5,254)
       (95,525)  (108,263)

Included in cost of sales is $974 (2015 — $1,621) expensed during the year for defined contribution plans.

19. SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Salaries and benefits      (9,889)  (7,941)
General, selling and administrative expenses      (6,979)  (6,713)
Research Expenditures      –  (169)
       (16,868)  (14,823)

Included in selling and administrative expenses is $140 (2015 — $119) expensed during the year for 
defined contribution pension plans.

20. FINANCE COSTS
     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Interest on long-term borrowings      (574)  (338)
Interest on short-term borrowing and other      (809)  (678)
Accretion expense      (18)  (45)
Deferred financing charges      (24)  (23)
       (1,425)  (1,084)

21. IMPAIRMENT, LOSSES ON DISPOSAL AND OTHER ITEMS
     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment      –  (49)
Loss on write-down of note receivable      –  (112)
Impairment of intangible assets      (952)  –
Miscellaneous income (loss)      (49)  (92)
      (1,001)  (253)
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22. INCOME PER SHARE
Income per share for the year ended December 31:

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Net income from continuing operations attributable to shareholders    1,414  1,849

Effect of diluted securities on net income
Net income from assumed debenture conversion      –  122
Diluted net income       1,414  1,971
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations      2,564  (479)
      3,978  1,370

Basic weighted average number of shares     64,834,119 64,726,516

Effect of diluted securities 
Net incremental dilutive shares      1,102,941 2,989,439
Diluted weighted average number of shares     65,937,060 67,715,955

Net earnings per share
Basic and diluted — continuing operations      0.02  0.03
Basic and diluted — discontinued operations       0.04  (0.01)
Basic and diluted — all operations      0.06  0.02

Basic earnings per share is derived by dividing the earnings for the year by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Dilutive earnings per share is derived by dividing 
the adjusted earnings by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding assuming 
all dilutive securities are exercised at the beginning of the year. In the dilutive earnings per share 
calculation, earnings is adjusted to reflect finance costs that would not have been incurred as a result  
of the assumed conversion of subordinate convertible debentures. 

23. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (RECOVERY) 
The major components of tax expense (recovery) from continuing operations are as follows:

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Current tax expense      130  192
Total current tax expense (recovery)      130  192
Deferred tax expense relating to origination and reversal of      1,279  655 
 temporary differences, unused tax losses, and unused tax credits

Total deferred tax expense (recovery)      1,279  655
Total income tax expense (recovery)      1,409  847

The reconciliation between income tax expense (recovery) and the product of accounting profit 
multiplied by the combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rate is as follows:

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Accounting profit      5,604  2,217
Combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rate     27.00%  27.00%
Income tax calculated using combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rate  1,513  599
Non-deductible expenses      189  88
Non-taxable portion of capital gains      (683)  0
Change in tax rates      0  (97)
Other      390  257
Income tax recovery      1,409  847
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The amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities in respect of each type of temporary difference and in 
respect of each type of unused tax losses and unused tax credits is as follows:

 Dec 31, Recogni- Recogni- Dec 31, Recogni-  Recogni- Recogni- Dec 31,
 2014 zed in zed in 2015 zed in zed in zed in 2016
  income other  income other intan-
  tax expenses  tax expenses gible
  expense   expense  assets

Deferred tax assets:
Capital leases 79 42 – 121 (45) – – 76
Investment tax credits 1,308 – 1,461 2,769 – 1,835 971 5,575
Non-capital losses 5,899 (892) – 5,007 687 – – 5,694
Research and development expenses 329 829 – 1,158 708 – – 1,866
Share issuance costs 67 (32) – 35 (17) – – 18
Other 466 598 – 1,064 (1,220) – – (156)
Total deferred tax assets 8,148 545 1,461 10,154 113 1,835 971 13,073 
Deferred tax liabilities:         
Accounts receivable (762) (97) – (859) 407 – – (452)
Convertible debentures (19) 14 – (5) 5 – – –
Intangible assets (383) (699) – (1,082) (876) – – (1,958)
Investment in associate (169) (4) – (173) 68 – – (105)
Investment tax credits (313) (435) – (748) (638) – – (1,386)
Property, plant and equipment (1,479) 21 – (1,458) (359) – – (1,817)
Other – – – – (217) – – (217) 
Total deferred tax liabilities (3,125) (1,200) – (4,325) (1,610) – – (5,935) 
Net deferred tax assets 5,023 (655) 1,461 5,829 (1,497) 1,835 971 7,138

24. OPERATING SEGMENTS
A description of the Group’s business segments, Media-based Attractions, Steel Fabrication Services 
and Corporate are included in note 2. Revenue recognition is not consistent between the segments 
as all revenues are recognized in the Steel Fabrication Services segment and Media-based Attractions 
segments are recognized in accordance with IAS 11 – Construction Contracts. Revenue recognition for 
the Corporate segment is in accordance with IAS 18.

During 2016, the Group sold the assets and liabilities of Tornado Trucks which represented the Group’s 
previously identified Manufactured Products segment. The Group has removed that operating segment 
for the current year and comparative period as the operating results from this segment are disclosed in 
discontinued operations (note 28).

The tables below show the segmented performance for the Group from its three operating segments, 
Media-based Attractions, Steel Fabrication Services and Corporate for the years ended December 31, 
2016 and 2015 respectively:

 2016 Media-based  Steel  Corporate  Total
 Attractions  Fabrication
   Services

Sales  101,991  15,778  218  117,987

Cost of goods sold excluding depreciation
 and amortization  (80,733)  (14,792)  –  (95,525)
Gross Profit, excluding depreciation
 and amortization  21,258  986  218  22,462
Selling, general and administrative expenses  (10,664)  (3,101)  (3,103)  (16,868)
Result before depreciation, amortization,  
 finance costs and other items   10,594  (2,115)  (2,885)  5,594
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 2015 Media-based  Steel  Corporate  Total
 Attractions  Fabrication
   Services

Sales  102,961  28,147  117  131,225

Cost of goods sold excluding depreciation
 and amortization  (83,247)  (25,016)  –  (108,263)
Gross Profit, excluding depreciation 
 and amortization  19,714  3,131  117  22,962
Selling, general and administrative expenses  (8,049)  (3,596)  (3,178)  (14,823)
Result before depreciation, amortization,
 finance costs and other items  11,665  (465)  (3,061)  8,139

The following table breaks down the sales by geographical region:

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Canada      19,360  28,546
United States      19,110   31,390
Asia      44,989  52,193
Middle East/Europe      34,528  19,096
      117,987  131,225

All the Group non-current assets are in Canada except for $2,312 (2015 — $786) of property, plant and 
equipment located in the United States.

25. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE AND MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objective when managing its long-term capital structure is to strive for a long-term manageable 
level of long-term funded debt to total capitalization. The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to 
risk. The Group manages the capital structure and adjusts it considering changes in economic conditions 
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
issue new shares, sell redundant or non-core assets or borrow through the issue of long-term debt.

Funded debt is defined as long term debt including finance leases. Tangible net worth includes shareholder’s 
equity, subordinate debt such as subordinate convertible debentures and limited recourse loans less 
intangible assets and deferred tax assets. The Group’s strategy during the period, which was unchanged 
from the prior period, was to maintain its ability to secure access to financing at a reasonable cost. There are 
external restrictions to capital as lending limits are based on asset availability and financing agreements that 
are impacted by covenants. Management actively monitors these limits to ensure compliance.

 For the years ended     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Current portion of long-term debt including finance leases     7,473   903
Long-term debt classified as current and finance leases     12,134  1,526
Funded debt      19,607  2,429

Shareholders’ equity      20,145  23,660
Convertible debentures      –  951
Limited recourse loan      955  984
Less: deferred tax assets      (7,138)  (5,829)
Less: intangible assets (net)      (7,762)  (4,132)
Tangible net worth      6,200  15,634
Capitalization      25,807  18,063
Funded debt/Capitalization      76.0%  13.5%
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The following table presents information on the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
and discloses the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques used to determine this fair value at 
December 31, 2016:

 Carrying Value Fair Value Classification  Level 

Cash and equivalents  102  102 FVTPL  1 
Accounts receivable  40,933  40,933 Loans & Rec  1 
Advances to associate  929  929 Loans & Rec  2 
Note receivable  2,814  2,814 Loans & Rec  1 
Derivative financial instruments  647  647 FVTPL  2 
Bank indebtedness  (6,856)  (6,856) FVTPL  1 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (23,886)  (23,886) Other Fin Liab  1 
Long-term debt including current portion  (19,352)  (19,352) Other Fin Liab  1 
Limited recourse loan  (955)  (955) Other Fin Liab  2 

As at December 31, 2015: 

 Carrying Value Fair Value Classification  Level 

Cash and equivalents  81  81 FVTPL  1 
Accounts receivable  44,596  44,596 Loans & Rec  1 
Advances to associate  885  885 Loans & Rec  1 
Derivative financial instruments  (3,751)  (3,751) FVTPL  2 
Bank indebtedness  (6,391)  (6,391) FVTPL  1 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (20,626)  (20,626) Other Fin Liab  1 
Convertible debentures  (951)  (951) Other Fin Liab  2 
Long-term debt  (2,123)  (2,123) Other Fin Liab  1 
Limited recourse loan  (984)  (984) Other Fin Liab  2 

The fair values of cash and equivalents, accounts receivable (including advances to associate), bank 
indebtedness and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values given 
their short-term maturities. Management has determined that the fair value of long-term debt including 
finance leases, subordinate convertible debentures and limited recourse loans do not materially differ 
from its carrying value as the majority of such debt is subject to floating interest rates and current 
market conditions. The fair value of the derivative financial instruments is determined by reference to 
information provided by CIBC who the Group holds the contracts with using recognized valuation 
techniques.

RISK MANAGEMENT
In the normal course of its business, the Group is exposed to a number of risks that can affect its 
operating performance. Management’s close involvement in operations helps identify risks and 
variations from expectations. As a part of the overall operation of the Group, management considers 
the avoidance of undue concentrations of risk. The Group manages its risks and risk exposures through 
a combination of financial instruments, insurance, a system of internal and disclosure controls and 
sound business practices. The primary types of financial risk which arise are liquidity, credit, and market 
risk. These risks and the actions taken to manage them are as follows:

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group cannot meet its financial obligations associated with financial 
liabilities in full. A range of alternatives is available to the Group including cash flow provided by 
operations, additional debt, the issuance of equity or a combination thereof. The funds are primarily 
used to finance working capital and capital expenditure requirements and are adequate to meet the 
Group’s foreseeable financial obligations associated with financial liabilities.
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The following table summarizes the Group’s financial liabilities with corresponding maturity dates as at 
December 31, 2016:

   Total 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021+ 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   23,886 23,886 – – – – 
Deferred revenue from construction contracts   7,269 7,269 – – – – 
Bank indebtedness   6,856 6,856 – – – – 
Long-term debt   19,766 7,535 6,720 4,640 612 259 
Limited recourse loan   955 – – – – 955 
Total   58,732 45,546 6,720 4,640 612 1,214 

The Group expects to have adequate resources to discharge these financial liabilities. The Group 
performs a comprehensive budgeting process which includes a detailed analysis of projected future 
cash flows based upon but not limited to historical experience and backlog reports. This process is 
subject to sensitivity analysis and is periodically reviewed against recent and past performance. 

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that customers may experience financial difficulty and be unable to 
fulfill their commitments to the Group. For a financial asset, this is typically the gross carrying amount, net 
of any amounts offset and any impairment losses. The Group has credit policies to address credit risk on 
accounts receivable from customers, which may include the analysis of the financial position of customers 
and review of credit limits. The Group also reviews new customer credit history before establishing credit 
and periodically reviews existing customer credit performance. The Group may require letters of credit 
or credit insurance. An allowance for doubtful accounts is established based upon factors surrounding 
credit risk of specific customers, historical trends and other information. At December 31, 2016, the 
Group had one individual customer accounting for approximately 29% of total accounts receivable 
(2015 — 25%) for which the Group has insured to effectively eliminate the credit risk.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will have an effect on future cash flows associated 
with financial instruments. There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to Market risks in the 
manner in which these risks are managed or measured. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity price risk.

Currency risk
The Group sells its products, as well as, purchases goods in both Canadian and U.S. currencies. 
Accordingly, the Group is exposed to currency risk as it relates to customer accounts receivable 
balances and trade accounts payable denominated in U.S. currency. Changes in the applicable 
exchange rate may result in a decrease or increase in foreign exchange income or expense. The 
Group may secure forward exchange contracts or use other hedging activities to manage part of the 
foreign risk exposures relating to customer accounts receivable balances and trade accounts payable 
denominated in U.S. currency.

As at December 31, 2016, the Group had USD foreign currency forward contracts for $34,120 (2015 — 
$38,100) at forward rates ranging from $1.1150 to $1.4035 maturing through December 31, 2017. The 
accounts noted below include amounts denominated in U. S. currency that have been converted to the 
Canadian dollar equivalent on the balance sheet date at a rate of $1.3427 per U.S. dollar (2015 — $1.3840): 

 (In $000’s USD)     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Cash (bank indebtedness) (bank balance less outstanding      5,879  4,588 
Accounts receivable (including unbilled construction receivables)    26,279  22,852 
Accounts payable & accrued liabilities      (7,072)  (6,539) 
Long-term debt      (10,000)  – 
Derivative Financial Instruments      (34,120)  (38,100) 
Net foreign currency exposure      (19,034)  (17,199) 
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For the year ended December 31, 2016, if the Canadian dollar had strengthened 10% percent against 
the US dollar with all other variables held constant, net income for the year would have been $1,903 
higher (2015 — $1,720 higher). Conversely, if the Canadian dollar had weakened 10% percent against 
the US dollar with all other variables held constant, net income would have been $1,903 lower (2015 — 
$1,720 lower). 

Included in revenue are gains on translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities and gains 
on foreign currency transactions of $728 for the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 – $1,522).

As at December 31, 2016, the Group has the following forward foreign currency contracts outstanding: 

   Nominal Amount Forward Rate Fair Value

Forward contracts expiring January 30, 2017    540  1.1150  (122)
Forward contracts expiring January 31, 2017    7,500  1.4035  459
Forward contracts expiring February 1, 2017    7,500  1.3868  334
Forward contracts expiring February 27, 2017    540  1.1150  (122)
Forward contracts expiring March 29, 2017    540  1.1150  (123)
Forward contracts expiring April 28, 2017    2,500  1.3851  111
Forward contracts expiring April 28, 2017    5,000  1.3705  148
Forward contracts expiring December 29, 2017    10,000  1.3323  (38)
     34,120    647

The Group’s mark to market asset of $647 relating for forward foreign currency contracts was a $4,398 
reversal from the liability of $3,751 recorded as at December 31, 2015. During 2015 the Group’s liability 
increased by $2,126 to $3,751 as at December 31, 2015. A fair value liability is created when the actual 
exchange rate as of the date of these consolidated financial statements is higher than actual or average 
rates of the forward contracts outstanding. The size of the liability is influenced by the size of the rate 
differential as well as the total amount of contract outstanding. Inversely, if the actual exchange rate is 
below the actual or average rates of the forward contracts outstanding a fair value asset will be created.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through 
its variable rates on bank operating lines and long term borrowings. The Group manages exposure to 
interest rate risk by using a combination of fixed and floating rate debt instruments.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, if interest rates had been 50 basis points lower with all other 
variables held constant, after-tax net income for the period would have been $110 (2015 — $72) higher, 
arising mainly as a result of lower interest expenses on variable borrowings. If interest rates had been  
50 basis points higher, with all other variables held constant, after-tax net income would have been 
$110 (2015 — $72) lower, arising mainly as a result of higher interest expenses on variable borrowings. 

Commodity price risk
Manufacturing costs for the Group’s products are affected by fluctuations in the price of raw materials, 
primarily steel. To manage its risk, the Group implements selling price adjustments to match raw 
material cost changes. This matching is not always possible as customers react to selling price pressures 
related to raw material cost fluctuations according to conditions pertaining to their markets. For long 
term contracts, the Group may negotiate the inclusion of a flow through price adjustment clause into 
contracts whereby the customer agrees to price changes based on the underlying market value of 
steel. To limit the risk associated with steel price increases, the Group locks in order prices to the extent 
possible as soon as contracts are awarded.

The sensitivity analyses in the currency risk and interest rate risk sections above do not take into 
consideration that the Group’s liabilities are actively managed. Additionally, the financial position of the 
Group may vary at the time that any actual market movement occurs or be mitigated by management’s 
actions to reduce exposure to risks. Other limitations in the above sensitivity analyses includes the use 
of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate potential risk that only represent the Group’s view 
of possible near-term market changes that cannot be predicted with any certainty; and the assumption 
that all interest rates move in an identical fashion.
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27. RELATED PARTIES
The Group had sales to an Associate in the amount $60 (2015 — $259), which were management fees 
(2015 — $60) and purchases from an Associate of $3,656 (2015 — $4,184). Also, the Group had $66 
of interest expense on convertible debentures paid or payable to related parties who were individual 
debenture holders (2015 — $84). These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are 
measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by 
the parties. Compensation awarded to key management included:

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Salary and short-term employee benefits      2,168  2,339
Post-employment benefits      31  74
Share-based payments      398  17
      2,597  2,430

28. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS – TORNADO TRUCKS
The Group completed the Spin-out of Tornado Trucks on June 28, 2016 under the terms of the plan of 
arrangement outlined in Note 2. As a result the Group has recorded the operations of Tornado Trucks 
as a discontinued operation in accordance with IFRS 5 for the periods presented in these financial 
statements. The operations of Tornado Trucks is the entire operations of the Group’s previously 
disclosed Manufactured Products operating segment.

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Revenues      9,146  20,178
Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization     (8,781)  (17,941)
Adjusted gross profit      365  2,237
Selling, general and administrative expenses      (1,085)  (2,362)
Adjusted EBITDA      (720)  (125)
Depreciation and amortization      –  (327)
Adjusted EBIT      (720)  (452)
Finance costs      (9)  (27)
Gain on disposal costs (net of disposal costs)      3,511  –
Net loss from discontinued operations before taxes      2,782  (479)
Tax expense (current and deferred)      (218)  –
Net loss from discontinued operations (net of tax)      2,564  (479)

29. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
After December 31, 2016, the Group made the decision to restructure its operations and consolidated it 
Steel Fabrication Services operating segment into its Media-Based Attractions operating segment. The assets 
of the Steel Fabrication Services segment can be well utilized within the Group’s Media-Based Attractions 
operating segment which will allow the one main core operating segment to operate more efficiently. 

On January 22, 2017, the Group incorporated a wholly-owned foreign enterprise called Zhejiang 
Dynamic Structures Engineering Technology Limited in the People’s Republic of China. The purpose  
of this entity will be to expand and improve the Group’s manufacturing capacity in China. 

30. GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES
LOAN GUARANTEES
The Group is contingently liable under one guarantee given to a third-party lender who has provided certain 
financing facilities to associated investments. As at December 31, 2016, the maximum amount of fixed 
guarantees provided to a third-party lender on behalf of an affiliated company is $309 (2015 — $481).  
No liability has been recorded in these consolidated financial statements related to these guarantees.
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LETTERS OF CREDIT  
In the normal course of business, the Group contracted letters of credit for an amount of $6,273 USD as 
at December 31, 2016 (2015 — $6,066). The Group has a guarantee facility with Export Development 
Canada to guarantee letters of credit for performance security and advance payment guarantees issued 
by the Group on international construction contracts. The total value of letters of credit disclosed above 
are guaranteed by this facility. As at December 31, 2016, the limit on the facility was $10,000 USD and 
is secured by a general security agreement providing second security interests in all of the Group’s 
present and after-acquired property.

Director and officer indemnification
The Group indemnifies its directors and officers against any and all claims or losses reasonably incurred 
in the performance of their service to the Group to the extent permitted by law. The Group has acquired 
and maintains liability insurance for its directors and officers as well as those of its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries and certain affiliated companies.

Other indemnification provisions
From time to time, the Group enters into agreements in the normal course of operations and in connection 
with business or asset acquisitions and dispositions. By their nature, these agreements may provide for 
indemnification of counterparties. The varying nature of these indemnification agreements prevents the 
Group from making a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount it could incur. Historically, 
the Group has not made any significant payments in connection with these indemnification provisions.

Operating lease commitments
The Group has the operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2016 in the amount of $8,755 for 
2017 and subsequent years.

Other contingencies
The Group is subject to various product liability or general claims and legal proceedings covering 
matters that arise in the ordinary course of business. All such matters are adequately covered by 
insurance or by accruals, or are determined by management to be without merit, or of such kinds or 
amounts as would not have a material adverse effect on the financial results of the Group.

31. SUPPLEMENTAL CASHFLOW INFORMATION
The follow table outlines the additional details that comprise cash flow from operating activities in the 
statement of cash flows:

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Amortization of deferred financing charges      23   23 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment      –   49 
Loss on disposal of note receivable      –   112 
Loss on foreign exchange revaluation of limited recourse loan     29   159 
Foreign currency adjusted (net of tax)      57   13 
Non-cash interest income earned      (76)   (77) 
Unrealized foreign currency translation gains recorded in revenues    (1,085)   (1,522) 
Accretion of convertible debentures      19   45 
Income taxes paid      (138)   (15) 
      (1,169)  (1,213) 

The following table outlines the details that comprises changes in non-cash working capital accounts in 
the statement of cash flows:

     Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Receivables      3,663   (5,860) 
Inventories      143   629 
Prepaid expenses      (155)   (352) 
Accounts payable      3,260   2,041 
Deferred revenue from construction contracts      (12,321)   9,898 
Other      (1,187)   123 
      (6,597)  6,479
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Empire Industries acknowledges and thanks the following  
for providing images in this report:

Parc du Futuroscope — cover, p. 2–5, 16–17 and 19 
Wanda Movie Park — p. 13 and 24 
Thirty Meter Telescope International Observatory — p. 18 
Bollywood Parks Dubai — p. 21 
Lotte World — p. 25 
Wings Over Washington — p. 36 and 39

http://empind.com/


Head Office

717 Jarvis Avenue
Winnipeg, Manitoba
Canada R2W 3B4

1 204 589 9300
empind.com
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